
Civic Centre, Windmill Street, Gravesend Kent DA12 1AU

Community & Leisure 
Cabinet Committee

Members of the Community & Leisure Cabinet Committee of Gravesham Borough Council 
are summoned to attend a meeting to be held Virtually on Thursday, 12 November 2020 at 7.30 
pm when the business specified in the following agenda is proposed to be transacted. Details on 
how Members can attend the meeting will be sent separately. 

In response to COVID-19, the Government has legislated to permit remote attendance by Elected 
Members at formal meetings. This is conditional on other Elected Members and the public being 
able to hear those participating in the meeting. This meeting will be streamed live and can be 
watched via Gravesham Borough Council’s YouTube Channel:- 

www.youtube.com/graveshamtv 

S Walsh
Service Manager (Communities)

Agenda

Part A
Items likely to be considered in Public

1. Apologies 

2. Minutes (Pages 3 - 14)

3. Declarations of Interest 

4. To consider whether any items in Part A of the agenda should be 
considered in private or those (if any) in Part B in public. 

5. Environmental Enforcement 

6. Draft Community & Engagement Strategy (Pages 15 - 24)

7. Gravesham Community Safety Partnership (Pages 25 - 32)

http://www.youtube.com/graveshamtv


8. Youth Democracy Scheme (Pages 33 - 52)

9. Christmas Programme of Events (Pages 53 - 58)

10.Corporate Performance Report: Q2  2020-21 (Pages 59 - 70)

11.Any other business which by reason of special circumstances the Chair is 
of the opinion should be considered as a matter or urgency. 

12.Exclusion 
To move, if required, that pursuant to Section 100A(4) of the 
Local Government Act 1972 that the public be excluded from any 
items included in Part B of the agenda because it is likely in view 
of the nature of business to be transacted that if members of the 
public are present during those items, there would be disclosure 
to them of exempt information as defined in Part 1 of Schedule 
12A of the Act.

Part B
Items likely to be considered in Private

None. 

Members

Cllr Shane Mochrie-Cox (Chair)
Cllr Tony Rana (Vice-Chair)

Councillors: Helen Ashenden
Ejaz Aslam
Harold Craske
Aaron Elliott
Gary Harding
Emma Morley
Christina Rolles
Peter Scollard

Substitutes: To be notified



1

Community & Leisure Cabinet Committee 

Tuesday, 15 September 2020                                           7:30pm  

Present:

Cllr Shane Mochrie-Cox (Chair) 
Cllr Tony Rana (Vice-Chair) 

Cllrs: Helen Ashenden 
Ejaz Aslam 
Harold Craske 
Aaron Elliott 
Jordan Meade 
Emma Morley   
Christina Rolles 
Peter Scollard 

Simon Hookway 
Anita Tysoe  
Kath Donald 
Sean Steer 
Virginie Whittaker 
Mandy Hare 
Kirsty Gaunt 

Assistant Director (Communities) 
Service Manager (Customer & Theatre Services) 
Strategic Manager 
Community Safety Operations Manager 
Town & Tourism Manager 
Cultural Manager 
Community Involvement Officer 

Ben Clarke Committee & Scrutiny Assistant (Minutes) 

45. Apologies 

An apology for absence was received from Cllr Gary Harding; Cllr Jordan Meade substituted. 

46. Minutes 

The minutes of the meeting on Wednesday, 03 June 2020 were signed by the Chair. 

47. Declarations of Interest 

Cllr Peter Scollard declared an interest as he was a trustee on the North West Kent 
Community Volunteer Centre. 

Cllr Shane Mochrie-Cox declared an interest as he was an appointed representative to the 
Gr@nd and the GCLL Board. 

48. Corporate Performance Report: Q1 2020-21 

The Committee was presented with an update against the Performance Management 
Framework, as introduced within the Council’s Corporate Plan, for Quarter One 2020-21 
(April to June 2020). 

At the Chairs request, the Assistant Director (Communities) went through the report section 
by section: 

Page 3 Agenda Item 2



Community & Leisure Cabinet Committee 15.09.2020

2

People 

1. Create stronger neighbourhoods:
2. 2. Actively enforce environmental standards:

The Assistant Director (Communities) gave the Committee a brief summary of the 
performance that related to the two Policy Commitments within Objective Number One: 
People. 

The Chair advised that he met with Chief Inspector Neil Loudon and Inspector Craig West 
from Kent Police and they assured him that a large swathe of the reported anti-social 
behaviour cases were linked to Covid-19. As such, the Chair was assured that the statistics 
would be regrouped to show the genuine ASB cases and the ASB cases that were a direct 
result of Covid-19. 

Concern was raised by a Member as many Councillors had received complaints from their 
constituents regarding the rising use of E-Scooters and mopeds which caused a hazard to 
the public as they were being used irresponsibly on pavements, the road and in the local 
parks. It was suggested that the Council and Kent Police worked together to form a strategy 
to deal with preventing access to places such as parks in order to stop any accidents from 
occurring. 

The Assistant Director (Communities) agreed that the Council had seen a rise in the use of 
E-Scooters but the legislation was not up to date; it was actually illegal to use the E-Scooters 
on the highway unless they were hired from a registered company. The Chair stated that it 
was the responsibility of Kent Police to provide enforcement and the Assistant Director 
(Communities) agreed to liaise with Kent Police on the issue. 

Following further questions, the Assistant Director (Communities) explained the following: 

 With regard to the enforcement figure of zero for quarter one, at the start of lockdown 
litter enforcement was not deemed essential and the Safer Place Officers  were 
redeployed to carry out welfare checks and deliver food boxes to vulnerable people. 
Fly-tipping was not ignored in the Borough. Since the lockdown measures had 
eased,  the Safer Place Officers had returned to their normal duties issuing fines 
where appropriate and following up on reported cases. The new Enforcement 
Manager took up his post today and he will be responsible for the enforcement team, 
enforcement within the Borough and the handling of investigations into cases 

 The Community Safety Unit (CSU) had been restructured; the ASB Housing Officers 
had been relocated to the CSU and had been working closely with the Strategic 
Manager and the Community Safety Operations Manager on issues on Council 
estates. They had also been working closely with the Housing department to resolve 
ASB issues swiftly with effective use of the powers that the Council had available to 
them. During the process of dealing with ASB cases, the victims were given 
reassurance and engaged with.  

 The ASB Housing Officers had been working on a number of cases and currently did 
not require any additional resources for the team; a significant amount of work had 
been undertaken in line with the Assistant Director (Housing) to build on 
improvements in the service. If the team received an influx of cases then the 
Community Safety Operations Manager would discuss with the Portfolio Holder what 
needed to be done 

Page 4



Community & Leisure Cabinet Committee 15.09.2020

3

 The increase in figures in ASB on page 16 reflected an increase in incidents whereby 
residents not following Government guidance in relation to Covid-19 were being 
reported to the Police 

Cllr Meade was pleased with the effective litter campaign posted around Town and was 
hopeful that it would make people think before littering again; he asked that thanks be 
recorded to the Safer Place Officers for their hard work during lockdown supporting the 
vulnerable residents of Gravesham. 

The Chair agreed with the recording of thanks and assured the Committee that the new 
Enforcement Manager would be invited to attend a Committee meeting in the future. 

Place 

1. Design a quality and affordable leisure offer

The Assistant Director (Communities) gave the Committee a brief summary of the 
performance that related to Policy Commitment One within Objective Number Two: People. 

Members of the Committee praised GCLL for the professional and safe manner in which the 
gyms had been reopened; it was noted that the reopening of the gyms may have helped 
boost mental wellbeing for users.  

The Committee raised concern over the future of GCLL and if it’s position would impact the 
Councils finances in any way. 

The Chair advised that there was a constant dialogue open between GCLL and GBC and 
Rob Swain had held discussions with senior management at several Management Team 
meetings. The Council wanted to ensure that there was a quality and affordable leisure offer 
in the Borough and the GCLL were part of that desire; it was hoped that the Government 
would release some additional funding in the future to support the leisure industry. 
 

2. Manage a programme of proactive healthy living interventions 

The Assistant Director (Communities) gave the Committee a brief summary of the 
performance that related to Policy Commitment Two within Objective Number Two: People. 

The Chair thanked the Gr@nd for their continued support over the course of the lockdown. 

3. Develop a cohesive and resilient community 

The Assistant Director (Communities) advised that any questions for the third policy 
commitment would be picked up in one of the reports. 

4. Enhance the Borough’s cultural offer 

Cllr Elliott raised an issue with inclusivity at recent events as he felt that the public hadn’t had 
presentation at various events. As an example, Cllr Elliott reported that the Battle of Britain 
commemoration event held at Cascades today was not attended by himself or Cllr Ashenden 
as they had not been informed of the event by officers even though it was being held in their 
own ward, which was unacceptable. 

Page 5



Community & Leisure Cabinet Committee 15.09.2020

4

The Chair noted the frustrations of Councillors finding out about events through social media 
rather than through the Council, but he advised that the event held earlier today was 
arranged at short notice by the Civic Chaplain and it was meant to be a simpler event, given 
Covid-19 restrictions on attendance. . Such commemorations, including higher profile ones, 
had been cancelled nationally.. 

Members of the Committee echoed Cllr Elliot’s point about being informed of events in their 
wards so that Councillors could attend and represent their constituents. 

Concern was raised by a Member that a number of faith groups and organisations that had 
carried out great work during the lockdown supporting residents had not received recognition 
from their efforts. In particular the work of the Sikh and Muslim groups was very well 
received and their efforts helped Gravesham residents from going without food over 
lockdown however there was no mention of that concerted effort in the recent ‘Your Borough’ 
magazine.  

The Chair advised that the Community Involvement Officer was instrumental in the 
Community/Pandemic Hero Awards which were handed out last week; there were some 
fantastic nominations for the awards from all across the Community which resulted in a large 
range of diversity. The awards showcased the best that Gravesham had to offer to the 
Community over the lockdown and a significant portion of it was dedicated to the faith 
groups that supported Gravesham. 

The Service Manager (Customer & Theatre Services) added that there were a huge number 
of organisations that provided support during the pandemic and as part of the strategic 
review of community groups, the Council wanted to pull together a better picture of the 
support being delivered across the Borough . The report the Committee will receive tonight 
was only the beginning of the work and the Council had to ensure that all organisations were 
being engaged with. The Council had never dealt with a pandemic before so it was a 
learning experience which would be fed back into the review; the next report on the agenda 
will explain the matter further for Members. 

Cllr Rana advised that the Sikh Community were very proud of the work they did to support 
the most vulnerable in Gravesham and thanked the Community Involvement Officer for the 
award they received last week. The whole community came together, and it should be 
emphasised in the next edition of the ‘Your Borough’ magazine all of the fantastic work that 
faith groups carried out in a short period of time. 

5. Promote Gravesham’s arts and heritage

The Assistant Director (Communities) gave the Committee a brief summary of the 
performance that related to Policy Commitment Five within Objective Number Two: People. 

The Assistant Director (Communities) added that the report did not reflect that fact that the 
planned Dickens 150th anniversary celebrations had to be postponed. However the Mayor 
was able to attend Gads Hill, working in conjunction with the school and he laid Charles 
Dickens favourite flowers there on the day. An extract from a play called ‘Dickens Dream’, 
commissioned by the Council, also went live on social media on the day.

The Committee was advised by a Member for Higham Ward that Higham Parish Council 
were looking to hold further commemorations next year. 

Page 6



Community & Leisure Cabinet Committee 15.09.2020

5

Following a suggestion by a Member of the Committee that art be used to record all of the 
community spirit and hard work seen during the lockdown , the Chair advised that some 
lockdown art had already been created and was going to be exhibited this Saturday. The 
Chair added that the Council would be discussing the pandemic for many years to come and 
creative art would play a big role in memorialising all of the actions during lockdown. 

The Committee noted the information contained within the report. 

49. Impact of Covid 19 on Gravesham’s Community Sector 

The Committee was provided with a summary of a recent survey conducted in partnership 
with North West Kent Council for Voluntary Services of local community organisations in 
Gravesend. It identified how they had been impacted by Covid 19 and how they had adapted 
their services to meet changing needs.

The Community Involvement Officer highlighted key points from the report regarding the 
financial impact seen to the organisations within Gravesham and the responses received 
from the various groups to the survey. 

The Community Involvement Officer fielded questions from the Committee and explained 
that: 

 The survey was circulated by the CVS and there circulation list may not have 
included Choice however if Members felt that any groups had been missed out then 
they would be followed up and their feedback attain as the Council wanted as much 
feedback as possible from the widest network 

 In the future the survey could be revised to make it simpler and allow for more 
smaller community groups to take part which would include scout groups and sports 
clubs 

 All of the groups involved have had regular circulation of all information pertaining to 
funding and many of the groups have already had successful bids to Kent 
Community Funding 

The Service Manager (Customer & Theatre Services) further explained that the review will 
help to create a clear picture of what services were available, where there were any gaps, 
what challenges the various groups faced and where the Council could of provided further 
support. 

The Committee noted the information contained within the report. 

50. Cultural Strategy 

The Cultural Manager provided Members of the Committee with a copy of the final Art & 
Culture Strategy. 

The Cultural Manager informed Members that on 03 June Committee they were presented 
with a discussion paper on the development of an arts and culture strategy for the Borough 
and asked to agree the proposed focus, vision and priorities following a consultation and 
engagement process with residents and members of the creative sector. Following that 
meeting and taking into account all of Members comments and suggestions the final strategy 
has been developed ready for Member approval. 

Page 7



Community & Leisure Cabinet Committee 15.09.2020

6

The Chair thanked the Cultural Manager for all of the hard work she put into creating the Art 
& Culture Strategy. 

The Committee discussed and were impressed by the ambition of the Strategy; the phrase 
‘cultural hub of North Kent’ was highlighted as the Committee felt that the Strategy would 
actually enable Gravesham to become the cultural hub of all of Kent. 

The Committee approved the Art & Culture Strategy. 

51. Draft Tourism & Heritage Strategy 

The Committee were presented with the draft Tourism and Heritage Strategy for 
Gravesham. 

The Town Twinning & Tourism Manager advised Members that they had seen the first draft 
and the Strategy was still a work in progress; key points were highlighted from the report 
regarding the future of tourism in Gravesham, the benefits of the Reef redevelopment and 
the changing attitudes of people having staycations due to Covid-19. The next step for the 
development of the Strategy will be for the Town Twinning & Tourism Manager to further 
engage with Gravesham’s tourism and heritage partners. 

The Assistant Director (Communities) and the Town Twinning & Tourism Manager fielded 
questions from the Committee and explained that: 

 The announcement that the Eurostar would no longer stop at Ebbsfleet and Ashford 
stations was very disappointing as it was a key part of the Strategy in terms of 
expanding access to Gravesham from London. However the high speed train to St 
Pancras was still in place and a number of parties had been championing the area to 
the Government in order to reinstate Ebbsfleet as a station in the route. It was difficult 
to predict the impact to tourist numbers but figures could be attained on arrivals and 
departures at Ebbsfleet to give Members a rough idea 

 With regards to impact on cruise liners, the Town Twinning & Tourism Manager had 
built up an excellent working relationship with the cruise liners. They had been 
encouraged to come to Gravesend but it was not currently known how Covid-19 
would affect their future. River transport from Gravesend to London was still an aim 
for the Town and the Assistant Director (Communities) reported that the Council was 
in dialogue with partners on that matter 

 Gravesham had a stronger relationship with the Port of London Authority than the 
City of London Corporation; the PLA had a strong vision for the future of the Thames 
which included Gravesend as the PLA were based in the Town 

 The figures in the report around the number of visitors to Gravesend was gathered 
through the Councils partnership with Visit Kent and through the Cambridge Model 
which looked at local statistics (accommodation, transport, number of attractions and 
total visits to attractions) and then calculated the results from that evidence using an 
algorithm 

With regard to the Eurostar route, the Chair added that there was cross party Member 
support for the route and representation had been made at KCC and Parliament for the route 
to extend to Ebbsfleet and Ashford. 

Several suggestions were put forward by the Committee for inclusion in the Strategy: 

Page 8



Community & Leisure Cabinet Committee 15.09.2020

7

 
 Windmill Hill was a great asset to the Borough that went largely unnoticed; the hill 

provided extraordinary views over Gravesend and the Thames. A viewing platform 
or similar structure could be built atop the hill alongside a café/coffee kiosk in order 
to attract tourists to that area and provide something different than other Towns had 
on offer 

 Additional permanent attractions along Gravesend waterfront to rival what was 
offered at the Strand in Medway 

 Greater emphasis should be placed upon the heritage surrounding Pocahontas’ 
history in Gravesend and her statue in St Georges Church 

 Gravesend should be made more attractive to incoming ships and modes of river 
transport travelling along the Thames; the image of Gravesend had to be enhanced 
to maintain  interest from the river 

 When gathering figures for visitation to Gravesend, residents should be spoken too 
as well so that the results were not only gathered from computer algorithms; it was 
felt that feedback from residents would make the results more balanced 

 It was suggested that the website required further development, possibly funded by 
section 106 monies, to advertise more of the heritage within Gravesend and offer 
virtual tours of visitor points and historical parts of the Town. By including more 
content on the website it would attract more internet traffic to the website and then 
encourage more visitors to then make a trip to Gravesend to see the advertised 
attractions/heritage areas etc 

 An outlet centre built within Gravesham would drive up tourism numbers  

The Assistant Director (Communities) advised that promotion of the Town was important and 
Visit Gravesend and Discover Gravesham websites both held relevant information about 
Gravesend and its heritage. The Section 106 monies may be difficult to use for development 
of the Council website as there was a lot of competing demand on that funding and getting 
any of that money diverted towards tourism was difficult. Members were assured that the 
team would look at other activities that revolved around culture and arts within Gravesend as 
it would be a key driver for people to visit Gravesend in the future both locally and from afar. 

The Assistant Director (Communities) thanked Members for their feedback which would be 
taken under advisement for inclusion in the Strategy. 

52. Modern Slavery Strategy 

The Committee were provided with a draft Strategy that aimed to increase their 
understanding of modern slavery in the local area and offered an approach that would 
enable the Council to fulfil its statutory obligations as a First Responder organisation. The 
Strategy supported the Council’s wider Safeguarding agenda and would ensure that the 
Council had procedures in place that were robust and would withstand scrutiny. 

The Strategic Manager gave Members an overview of the report highlighting key points 
regarding the Strategy, the Councils responsibility when an officer encountered a potential 
victim of modern slavery, the training given to staff and the public to raise awareness and the 
proposed launch of the Strategy to coincide with National Anti-Slavery Day on 18 October 
2020. 

Page 9



Community & Leisure Cabinet Committee 15.09.2020

8

The  Strategic Manager was thanked for providing a robust Strategy and the Committee 
agreed that regular training was needed for Members on Modern Slavery and the new 
responsibilities placed on the Council as a first responder by the Modern Slavery Act 2015 

The Strategic Manager explained that training for staff and Members would be  included in a 
draft action plan that was being developed to support the delivery of the Strategy and the 
training for staff would be mandatory; the intention was that when new staff were recruited 
the training would become part of the their induction to the Council. The induction training 
could be a short online training session and it would also be appropriate for new Members 
as part of the Member Induction Training Programme. By incorporating into the Councils 
normal route and programmes it would eventually increase people’s confidence in their 
understanding of the issue and normalise reporting any suspected cases as there was still 
some hesitancy amongst the public. 

The Chair advised that Committee Services fell under the Leaders portfolio but he felt that 
the Leader would not have any issue with Committee Services incorporating Modern Slavery 
into the Members training programme. 

The Committee agreed to the Strategy, subject to any amendments, ready for formal 
approval by the Chair as the Portfolio Holder. 

53. Anti-Social Behaviour Update 

The Community Safety Operations Manager presented the Committee with an update on the 
progress with the Council's Anti-Social Behaviour (ASB) Strategy: he highlighted key points 
from the following section within the report:  

 Prevention and Community Involvement 
 Prevention and Intervention 
 Support Intervention 
 Enforcement
 Communication and Reassurance 

The Chair further explained that the report included figures from Kent Police and it was 
crucial that accurate data was recorded for each case in order to understand the level of 
anti-social behaviour and how it could be prevented in the future. Cooperation between 
Council departments was also very important, as outlined in the Communication and 
Reassurance part of the report, as working together allowed for a coordinated approach to 
the issues that Gravesham residents faced from anti-social behaviour. 

Cllr Meade echoed the Chairs comment for a coordinated approach being required and 
further requested that the partnership should also include Councillors so that intelligence 
could be shared with Councillors about ASB issues in their respective wards. 

The Chair advised that data distribution amongst local Councillors was a matter he 
previously raised with the Kent Police Crime Commissioner as there was a reporting issue 
on Kent Police statistics which did not allow for separate ward data to be collected.  Kent 
Police were aware of the issue and they had taken the issue up with the PCC as they 
needed additional resources. 

Page 10



Community & Leisure Cabinet Committee 15.09.2020

9

Cllr Meade advised that he previously lobbied the Police Crime Commissioner on similar 
points and would continue to do so. 

The Community Safety Operations Manager advised that a key aspect would be working in 
local areas and working closely with the Comms team to push messages out to all the wards 
in the Borough. The team will also work with Kent Police as their communications team also 
put messages out via social media. An example of the team working closely with the Police 
was the section 59 notices issued to people riding bikes dangerously in Woodlands Park as 
information was shared between the Council and the Police in order to control the issue. 

The Chair paid tribute to Chief Inspector Neil Loudon and Inspector Craig West as they were 
very responsive to the Councils questions and were full of useful information for the team. 
With regard to the issuing of section 59 notices to the bike users, the Chair appreciated the 
team work between the two organisations and encouraged further sharing of information as 
it would make the Strategy stronger. 

In response to a question regarding the team’s previous pop up booths and the 
reinstatement of Community Champion awards, the Community Safety Operations Manager 
advised that: 

 The Community Safety pop-up shop will be determined by how the Government dealt 
with Coivd-19 over the coming months; it was something the team wanted to do and 
the pop up shop was a success last year. It will be something that will be progressed 
in the future if possible 

 The Community Champion Awards were put on by the Crime Prevention Panel; they 
used to be located at Bluewater but they aren’t there anymore and due to Covid-29 
they haven’t operated for a while. The Community Safety Operations Manager 
agreed to make contact with them about the awards but if they were unable to then 
the Council could look at doing something similar 

The Committee noted the information contained within the report. 

54. Violence Against Women & Girls 

Following the conclusion of the Home Office funded project, Altogether Safer – Reducing 
VAWG in North Kent) in March 2020, the Committee were presented with a report that gave  
Members a brief overview of the impact of the different strands of the project during its 
lifetime. It was noted that the report only provided key highlights but a full Independent 
Evaluation Report of the Project would be shared with Members on request to the 
Community Safety Unit. 

The Strategic Manager gave Members a detailed overview of the report and highlighted key 
points from the following sections within the report:

 The Police Station Based IDVA Service 
 Engagement with domestic abuse support services across BAME communities 
 Choose Respect Programme 
 Overall Assessment, Value for Money and Future Work 
 Next Steps 

Page 11



Community & Leisure Cabinet Committee 15.09.2020

10

The Strategic Manager advised that page 102 held the overall assessment of the project, but 
she would share the independent valuation, which was submitted to the Home Office, with 
Members. 

The Chair advised that the total of £248,464.00 awarded over 3 years to the Altogether Safer 
Project sounded like a large sum of money but when it was broken down it wasn’t a lot 
however preventative work was important and was a more cost effective option.  

The Committee gave their thanks to the Strategic Manager for her hard work and stretching 
the limited funding available to her during the length of the project. 

Several suggestions were put forward by the Committee: 

 Some victims of domestic abuse may not be able to contact services, interact with 
shops or search for help via social media due to their domestic situation so more 
discreet paths should be investigated. One such path could be to work with local 
Pizza delivery stores which could place a sticker inside each pizza box listing a 
number for domestic abuse to call if they were in need. Another example would be 
attaching the number to letters that the Council sent out regularly such as reminders 
to pay rent etc 

 Domestic abuse also affected men and one of the biggest killers of young men was 
suicide; a recent study revealed that men aged 16-24 were in risk of being subjected 
to controlling behaviour in the household. Cllr Meade intended to lobby the Home 
Office on projects to help young men in need 

With regards to discreet methods of getting in contact with domestic abuse victims, the Chair 
advised that the contact number was attached to the side of the refuse lorries and help was 
always available at the Gr@nd but he agreed more could always be done. 

The Strategic Manager welcomed the suggestions from the Committee and explained that 
the team were always looking for further ways to reach the wider community and provide 
support. Representatives of the Community Safety Unit attended the North Kent Domestic 
Abuse Forum and the CSU could look at different ways of publishing the support information 
from that forum to spread it more broadly. The Altogether Project was mainly focused on 
women and young girls but men and young boys were also often victims of domestic abuse 
and work would still be undertaken with partner agencies to help them. 

In response to a question the Strategic Manager advised that the Altogether Safer project 
was meant for the whole community, not just the BAME residents, the advisor services and 
Choose Respect programme were available to everybody. The least costly part of the project 
was to support the BAME community and when the Council bid for the funding the criteria 
that was provided to the team by the Home Office required the team to look at preventative 
work, particularly with hard to reach and under-represented groups in those accessing 
services. Once the criteria was met by the services that were on offer the bid was successful 
and the team were keen to reach out to the immigrant communities that had previously little 
to no contact but the project as whole was for the benefit of everybody. 

Members of the Committee made several suggestions about groups that needed further help 
and should be listed in the report:  

 Young men and boys required further support as cases of domestic abuse often went 
unreported and they did not know how to seek help 

Page 12



Community & Leisure Cabinet Committee 15.09.2020

11

 The elderly Asian population were at risk as culturally, most Asian parents moved in 
with their children when they become too old to remain living by themselves. As a 
result, many of the elderly population were subjected to problems due to the living 
situation with their extended family and they would not talk about any problems due 
to their culture or being too embarrassed 

 During the lockdown, the Sikh community in Gravesham fed lots of the vulnerable 
residents from the Langa and around seventy percent of the residents that required 
the most support were from the white community. Many disturbing issues came to 
light over the course of the lockdown which the Sikh Community reported to the 
Council so that they could provide further assistance 

The Strategic Manager was grateful for the suggestions and agreed they were points that 
would be taken back to the Domestic Abuse Forum and also taken into consideration when 
the Council reviewed its own Community Safety Strategy.. The Strategic Manager added 
that the elderly white population were another at risk group as there was an increase in 
elderly people who had been experiencing abuse for a significant number of years but never 
reported it as their generation were unaware os support available or very hesitant to speak 
up. 

The Chair agreed that the community came together during lockdown and there were some 
hidden problems that came to light as result of the support that was given but they had all 
been referred to the correct departments in the Council. The Council managed to connect 
with a vast population of Gravesham during the pandemic which ended up helping people 
with problems not just related to Covid-19. 

The Committee noted the information contained within the report. 

55. Step Change Project 

The Committee were provided with details of the Step Change Project that was initiated as 
the result of a successful bid to the MHCLG Domestic Abuse Service Fund submitted by the 
Council’s Community Safety Unit. Funding was provided for the financial years 2018-19 and 
2019-20 and the Project had been delivered at an operational level by Choices (domestic 
abuse service provider).

The Strategic Manager informed the Committee that the late announcement of invitation to 
bid for funding and consequently, the late release of funds to successful projects by 
Government meant that in reality the Project that was planned for delivery over a 2 year 
period had only just over 12 months within which to meet its targets. Evidence of the high 
demand for the service provided was served purely by the fact that the target numbers 
originally set were exceeded within the shortened timescales. The original target was to aim 
to work with approximately 80 adults and approximately 120 children. The Project actually 
worked successfully with 92 individuals and 180 children.

The Project was successfully delivered and clearly had some positive outcomes for the 
victims supported and their children. Careful monitoring and record keeping throughout the 
Project placed Choices in a good position in trying to find additional funding after March 
2020 when MHCLG funding came to an end. Choices were able to continue delivering Step 
Change following a successful application for Big Lottery Funding for a wider project that 
also included the delivery of a further separate domestic abuse support service, the Phoenix 
Programme. Services were now available to victims from Medway and Maidstone as well as 
Dartford and Gravesham and the funding was secured until the end of March 2022. 

Page 13



Community & Leisure Cabinet Committee 15.09.2020

12

The Chair thanked the Strategic Manager for her informative report. 

The Committee noted the information contained within the report. 

Close of meeting 

The meeting ended at 21:59pm. 

Page 14



1

‘A Listening Council’ - A Community 
Engagement Strategy for 

Gravesham
2020-2023

Page 15 Agenda Item 6



2

Introduction by Councillor Shane Mochrie-Cox, 

Cabinet Member for Community & Leisure

The people who make up our communities are 
fundamental to making Gravesham such a 
fantastic place to live, work and enjoy.  

The council and this Administration is 
committed to being a listening council and in 
touch with its residents to ensure we deliver 
their priorities. To achieve this community 
engagement needs to be at the heart of what 

we do so that we can all work together to deliver effective services and 
build supportive and cohesive communities.

Our relationship with local residents and those who work and visit our 
Borough is crucial to all of us here at the council.  During these times of 
unprecedented uncertainty, change and challenges, it is more important 
than ever to build respect and trust between the council and the people 
of Gravesham.

This strategy and accompanying action plan will outline how the council 
will build on the existing strengths of our local communities, facilitate and 
support opportunities for all to have a voice, and help develop the skills 
of local communities and organisations that are essential in building the 
social capital that brings us all together. 

Councillor Shane Mochrie-Cox 

Cabinet Member for Community and Leisure

Page 16



3

Background

Community engagement can mean many things.  It is probably most helpful to consider it as 
a process that brings people together over a shared connection which could be a place, an 
interest, or an identity. 

There have been many drives over the years to empower residents to be more involved in 
the decisions that affect their lives and the services they receive, with varying degrees of 
success. Community engagement actively encourages participation and, as a lower tier local 
authority, Gravesham Borough Council is in a strong position to bring its local community 
and partners together to achieve this.

People are our greatest resource and, during these challenging and changing times, there 
have been tremendous examples of neighbourliness, public spirit and co-operation. By 
developing a community engagement strategy we have an opportunity to assess and learn 
from past, whilst looking ahead to future challenges to strengthen our relationship with local 
people and help support our corporate objectives.  

This strategy is ambitious but realistic and to ensure it remains relevant, will be reviewed 
annually.

 

Our Vision

Our vision is that Gravesham Borough Council will be:

A listening and responsive Council 

that involves our community and makes a difference

Page 17



4

Strategic Objectives

This strategy sets out four core objectives as the framework for developing community 
engagement. These are:

Being a Listening Council

Empowering Residents and Communities

Supporting Community Organisations

Building Cohesive Communities

Being a Listening Council.  The Council is committed to being a listening council and in 
touch with its residents. We will develop this priority through the following: 

 Establishing clear communication to the public on those opportunities where we need 
input from our communities to shape our priorities and services.

 Feeding back to the community on the information received from consultations, how 
that information has been used and the difference made.  Where action has not been 
taken this needs to be clearly communicated.  

 Providing support for Elected Members and officers in developing effective listening 
and engagement opportunities to help the council be more responsive to local needs.  

 The Council can act as a conduit for issues raised by the people and, if not in the gift 
of the Council to deal with, act as a conduit for the issues and signpost these to 
appropriate agencies

 Education, communication, information and advice will be the foundation and feature 
across the work of this strategy and action plan.

Empowering Residents and Communities.  Supporting and developing individuals and 
neighbourhoods with the tools and skills to take a more active role in their local area, leading 
to more empowered residents and communities.  The council will support this aim by:  

 Supporting volunteers and community leaders with relevant training and mentoring 
opportunities.

Page 18



5

 Encouraging collaborative working at a very local level supported by Ward Members, 
officers and relevant service providers to help build ownership, co-operation and 
pride in the local area

 Providing clear opportunities and processes for residents to influence local decision 
making

 Working in partnership with other authorities and agencies to deliver for local 
communities.

 Work closely and listen to thematic, interest and specialist groups and individuals to 
enhance the Borough’s Offer to residents, businesses and visitors especially in the 
arts, culture, tourism, heritage, sports and leisure sectors.

Supporting Community Organisations.  Community organisations play a central role in 
facilitating and developing community action and building strong social networks.  The 
council will provide support by:

 Establishing and supporting a network for local community organisations including a 
register of all community organisations in Gravesham.

 Reviewing its financial support for local community organisations and creating and 
formalising the Community Engagement and Events Grants Scheme and also run a 
Civic Events Protocol which will be administered by the Council

 Developing opportunities for community organisations, groups and clubs to engage 
with the council  

 Work will be done to ensure that demographic and marginalised sections of the 
community are heard especially listening to older residents, young people and faith 
groups. This will include supporting the work of the groups such as the Gravesham 
Youth Council and the 50+ Forum and Age UK, Gravesham Access Group.

 Help support community groups be sustainable via ongoing and external funding 
opportunities.

Building Cohesive Communities. Gravesham is a Borough that is recognised and 
celebrated for its diverse and cohesive communities. Community engagement is essential in 
working effectively with diverse communities, neighbourhoods and interest groups.  The 
council is committed to:

 Ensuring it has appropriate and inclusive opportunities to facilitate engagement and 
build trust with its BAME communities and communities of interest

 Develop the council’s diverse community events programme

Page 19



6

 Support educational and awareness raising activities to build better understanding 
and cohesiveness

Strategic Position and Key Policies

For the purposes of this strategy It is useful to set the strategic position of the Council and 
links with other key policies which will support delivery of this work. 

Corporate Plan:

The Corporate Plan 2019 – 2023 sets out the ambitions for the council and the actions being 
taken to achieve this,  working towards the overall vision to ‘deliver a Gravesham to be 
proud of’.  The plan was a result of working with and listening to communities to understand 
areas of the council work that were of greatest importance to the local community.  

There are three objectives – People, Place and Progress.  This community commitment sits 
under the Place objective with a specific commitment to ‘Develop a cohesive and resilient 
community’. 

As a Council, all work delivered links back to the Corporate Plan and can often cut across 
more than one objective. Whilst the strategy links directly to developing a cohesive and 
resilient community, it also supports many other objectives including creating stronger 
neighbourhoods, improving the local environment, improving resident well-being, and 
enhancing the borough’s cultural offer. 

Equalities Duty:

The Equalities Act 2010 legally protects people from discrimination in the workplace and 
wider society.  As a local authority, the council is required to prepare and publish one or 
more objectives to show how we will achieve the aims of the general equality duty.  The 
general equality duty requires public authorities, in the exercise of their functions, to have 
due regard to the need to:

 Eliminate discrimination, harassment and victimisation and any other conduct 
that is prohibited by or under the Act. 

 Advance equality of opportunity between people who share a relevant 
protected characteristic and people who do not share it. 

 Foster good relations between people who share a relevant protected 
characteristic and those who do not share it.

This duty directly impacts and guides our community engagement activity to ensure that our 
actions assist and address inequalities.

As a council we have recently reviewed and revised our Equalities Objectives.  The 
Equalities Framework for Local Government was used to help identify the new objectives 
which dedicates one of its five themes to “involving your community” and emphasises the 
importance of obtaining the views of a wide range of people who live and work in the area 

Page 20



7

with focused efforts made to those who are marginalised and vulnerable.  The evolving 
action plan will link with and support this Community Engagement Strategy. 

Communication Strategy

 

Gravesham Borough Council is committed to delivering a Gravesham to be proud of for 
residents, businesses and visitors and building a strong and trusted brand. The effectiveness 
of how the vision is delivered will be determined to a significant extent by the quality of  
communications and engagement. Cabinet recently considered a corporate Communications 
Strategy which focusses on internal and external communication, as well as directly linking 
to this Community Engagement Strategy through ensuring appropriate engagement and 
involvement of audiences.

Anti-Social Behaviour Strategy 2019-2023:

The council’s Anti-Social Behaviour Strategy identifies Prevention and Community 
Involvement as the primary objective to help stop ASB from happening or escalating and is 
one of 4 overarching priorities.  

Within the action plan there are specific actions where community engagement has a 
leading role in supporting delivery of the objective:

 Reducing acts of ASB directed against the person

A Creative Gravesham 2020-2025:

Our Arts & Cultural Strategy outlines the council’s commitments to build on the strong legacy 
of community events and support creativity and cultural cohesion within the borough. 

Community engagement has a significant role in supporting the priority of growing a cultural 
and creative community and establishing a vibrant and aspirational arts and cultural events 
programme.  In particular:

 Developing a cultural environment that is no longer solely confined by access to 
buildings and venues.  

 Creating a volunteer network to support cultural events and the heritage sector
 Ensuring that the diversity that defines the borough is reflected in all our activities

Page 21



8

Methods of Engagement

The Council uses a range of engagement methods from traditional questionnaire to events 
and activities. Our aim is to use the most appropriate method of engagement that is fit for 
purpose.

This means that we will:

 Use the most appropriate method of engagement, taking into account the purpose of 
the engagement, the required reach and nature of involvement and complexity of 
information being provided 

 Make sure the methods we use are accessible to everyone who wants to take part

 Identify preferred methods of communication for different activities and groups

 Guide colleagues and partners as to the best methods of engagement and what has 
worked well with different communities so that we can use methods we know are 
effective

 Evaluate methods and make changes in response to feedback 

 Regular reports will take place on the progress of the Strategy and Action Plan to the 
Cabinet Member for Community and Leisure and via the Community and Leisure 
Cabinet Committee 

Page 22



9

Swot Analysis

The following analysis sets out the current strengths, weaknesses, opportunities and threats 
in achieving our vision and delivering against this strategy. This analysis will be part of the 
review of the overall strategy and attention will be paid to how best to address some of the 
weaknesses as part of our efforts to continually develop and improve engagement as a 
whole.

Strengths Weaknesses
A diverse community who are keen to 
engage

Up to date engagement databases of 
community organisations, local 
groups, residents and businesses

Officers and Members who recognise 
and value the importance of true 
community engagement

Gaps in community leader 
representation from some groups

Local community organisations who 
support active engagement and are 
able to advise on changing 
community needs and issues

Little capacity or lack of skills 
amongst some groups to fully engage 
in opportunities with the Council, e.g. 
leading specific activities and events

Local community groups keen to 
support a diverse programme of 
events and activities that raise 
awareness and support education 
and cohesion

 

Opportunities Threats
Ability to grow a network of contacts 
for engagement, from community 
organisations to local residents

Unrealistic expectation of 
engagement opportunities or 
outcomes

Develop representation from under-
represented groups

Funding challenges to support local 
delivery of activities

Increase feedback about what the 
Council has done in response to 
engagement

Limited officer resource unable to 
meet wider demand for engagement 
activities

Page 23



10

Action Plan

To support the development of this strategy, an action plan has been drafted to set out some 
of the initial work streams that will be taken forward. The action plan will be kept under 
review and streams of work will be developed on an ongoing basis to ensure delivery of the 
overall objectives and to meet changing demands and priorities for the Council and 
community. 

Action Plan

Action Expected outcomes
Being a Listening Council

Develop and publish a programme of public 
consultations, including statutory responsibilities

Public, staff and elected 
members are all informed and 
able to plan ahead leading to 
improved responses

Develop and publish a protocol for how the council 
collates, responds and uses community feedback and 
information

Improved accountability of the 
council to help build trust

Promote how to contact the council and your local 
councillor

Improved awareness and 
contacts with the council and 
Elected Members

Empowering Residents and Communities
Implementing and developing the Street Champion 
Scheme.

Local residents take a more 
active role in their area

Using the Community Cohesion Atlas for Gravesham  
and Community Safety intelligence identify a priority 
street/ neighbourhood plan for targeted action 

Increase in pride and ownership 
of the local area

Developing tools and processes for the public to 
engage with the council with a particular focus on 
virtual to allow for social distancing. 

Increased engagement with a 
broader representation of the 
community

Supporting Community Organisations
On-line community organisation database.  
Develop, publish and keep updated.  

Increased contacts with 
community organisations.  Staff 
more confident to make 
appropriate referrals

Develop Community Organisation Network More supported and empowered 
community organisations

Identify and develop support for the sector to include 
funding opportunities, training, collaborative working 

Increase capacity and viability of 
the sector

Building Cohesive Communities
Review current links with BAME Community 
representatives and communities of interest and 
identify any gaps that need focus 

Improved contacts with 
Gravesham’s excluded 
communities 

Develop the council’s calendar of diverse community 
events providing support to community leaders and 
linking with relevant community organisations. 

Improved sense of pride and 
belonging in Gravesham, 
improved understanding and 
tolerance

 

Page 24



1

Classification: Public 
Key Decision:  No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Community and Leisure Cabinet Committee

Date: 12 November 2020

Reporting officer: Strategic Manager (Community Safety Unit)

Subject: De-merger of the Dartford and Gravesham Community Safety 
Partnership 

Purpose and summary of the report:
This report is provided to ensure that members of the Committee are fully informed of a proposal put 
forward by Gravesham Borough Council for the de-merger of the joint Dartford and Gravesham 
Community Safety Partnership (CSP) and which has subsequently been agreed, in pursuance of 
Gravesham’s wish to establish a dedicated District–level CSP.  

A delegated decision taken by the Cabinet Lead Member, Councillor Shane Mochrie-Cox, 
countersigned by the Leader of the Council, for the withdrawal of Gravesham from the joint CSP was 
taken and published in October in order that the new Partnership could be established without delay.  
This report has also previously been provided to the Council’s Cabinet on 9 November 2020 for 
information purposes.

Recommendations:

The Committee is asked to:

i) Note the content of the report.

1. Introduction and Rationale

1.1 This report apprises Committee of the de-merger of the existing joint CSP that has been 
initiated by Gravesham Borough Council.  Following the introduction of the Crime and 
Disorder Act 1998, both Dartford and Gravesham established Crime and Disorder Reduction 
Partnerships (CDRPs) now known as Community Safety Partnerships, in order to meet their 
statutory obligations.  The separate Partnerships were then merged in December 2006 
following a Home Office-led review.  The merger of Partnerships, particularly in two-tier 
Authorities, was seen at that time as a positive means of pooling resources and reducing the 
level of demand made on those agencies needing to participate in Partnership meetings.

1.2 During the lifetime of the CSP since the merger, the joint arrangements have generally 
worked well and strong relationships have been formed across the agencies represented.  
However, many things have changed during the course of the last 14 years that led 
Gravesham to conclude that now is the right time to re-establish its own separate and 
independent statutory CSP.

1.3 In respect of the Partnership directly, there had been significant changes to its structure and a 
shift from joint cross-Borough sub-groups of the CSP to separate working groups to address a 
variety of very local community safety priorities.  This had resulted in the CSP being the only 
joint meeting that remained. Meetings were rarely able to consider local issues or operational 
activity in real detail, tending primarily to discuss matters only at a very strategic level.  In part, 

Page 25 Agenda Item 7



2

this has been a reflection of the different approaches being taken at a local level, the different 
needs of our local communities and the fact that certain community safety issues e.g. dealing 
with Serious Organised Crime, require a very specific focus and agency representatives with 
local, grassroots knowledge.  

1.4 It is also the case that whilst Dartford and Gravesham may share some headline community 
safety objectives, the degree to which we each need to prioritise tackling certain issues differs 
as our experience of them is not the same.  We have a responsibility to ensure that we can, 
through multi-agency working, be as effective as possible in tackling the crime and disorder 
concerns that are most prevalent in our area and most important to our local people.  
Gravesham feels that this is something that will be better achieved through a dedicated CSP 
that will be able to focus specifically on and be proactive in dealing with local matters.

1.5 In the past, there may perhaps have been financial advantages in having a joint Partnership 
but no such advantages exist now.  Each Borough has their own Community Safety Unit 
(CSU) and each Unit receives separate corporate funding through their respective Councils to 
deliver a community safety service.  Each Unit also makes individual applications/bids to the 
Kent Police and Crime Commissioner’s Office on an annual basis to secure funding to deliver 
core activity and each are separately accountable to the PCC for expenditure of any funds 
allocated.  Other funding has been successfully sought through bids to Central Government, 
usually through consortium bids on behalf of several different agencies and charities and 
there is no reason why this cannot continue in the future. 

1.6 The rationale for the proposal has been one of wanting to ensure that Gravesham has a 
strong Partnership in place with the ability to concentrate on local residents’ needs and that 
will enable initiatives to meet these as effectively as possible.  The close working relationship 
that exists between the two Borough Councils, particularly between our CSUs is highly valued 
and Gravesham has sought to reassure partners that this will not be undermined by having 
separate Community Safety Partnerships – we will still be working together as we have done 
between CSP meetings.  This proposal has been purely about allowing future Partnership 
meetings to have a direct focus.  Further, having our own CSP will provide our statutory 
partners with the opportunity to discuss those issues that affect their own service areas in 
much greater detail than we have been able to do.  It will hopefully also make participation in 
the Partnership of greater and real value to them.  It is perhaps important to note that all other 
Districts in Kent have their own CSP; Gravesham is simply following the same approach and 
supporting consistency across the county.

2. Practicalities

2.1 In putting forward the proposal, a number of practicalities were considered.  The following 
information was shared with statutory partners as part of the consultation with them and to 
assist them with any discussions that would have been deemed necessary internally within 
their organisations.

2.1.1 Does the joint Partnership provide advantages at an operational level that would be 
weakened if separate CSPs were in place?
No.  Each Borough’s activity at an operational level is almost exclusively directed by each 
area’s CSU and determined by local priorities.  Even where the priorities themselves are the 
same, the responses to address them are identified and delivered separately as the approach 
taken differs dependent on the location, the physical environment and the population.  Neither 
of our CSUs have any staff with a cross-Borough remit – our Teams operate completely 
independently of each other.

2.1.2 Would having separate CSPs reduce our ability to address cross-border criminality?
No.  Information-sharing agreements are in place with Dartford as they are with all other 
Districts, with Kent County Council and with Medway Council.  Intelligence in respect of cross-
border criminality is routinely shared with other areas and this practice would remain the 

Page 26



3

same.  In reality, Gravesham experiences a greater degree of cross-border criminality from 
the Medway towns than from Dartford whilst the latter experiences a greater problem with 
offenders from the Bexley area than from Gravesham.  Very positive relationships exist 
between all CSU Managers and there is no reason to believe that the relationship we have 
with Dartford in respect of information-sharing would not continue.

2.1.3 Would having separate CSPs reduce our opportunity to work together or share good 
practice?
No.  Both CSUs have strong track records of working collaboratively with other Districts and 
non-Local Authority partner agencies.  Gravesham CSU has also been successful in bidding 
for significant sums of external funding to the Home Office and to the Ministry of Housing 
Communities and Local Government – none of those opportunities required that applications 
should cover more than one Local Authority area but we have submitted consortium or cross-
Borough bids where this has been advantageous to the application or to the project for which 
the funding is being sought.  Working collaboratively not just with Dartford but also with other 
areas and partner agencies will be key in attracting further external funding in future but our 
working together on bidding for these resources is not dependent on our having a joint CSP.

2.1.4 Would having separate CSPs increase our administrative and performance reporting burden?
Administration of the CSP is currently shared between Gravesham and Dartford’s CSUs.  
Gravesham has a full-time CSU Administrator who will continue to fulfil the administrative 
requirements of a Gravesham CSP.  

In terms of performance reports that are provided quarterly to the CSP, currently the 
responsibility is shared by the CSU Strategic Manager (Gravesham) and the Community 
Safety Manager (DBC).  Gravesham’s CSU Manager will have the responsibility of fulfilling 
the requirement of completing the performance reports for a dedicated Gravesham CSP as 
required (on a quarterly basis or otherwise).  In reality, the task should be much simpler and 
less time consuming as currently each report has to take account of changing patterns of 
crime and ASB across areas and activity being carried out in each Borough - if the report 
writer is only having to consider local performance and activity (with which they will be much 
more familiar and knowledgeable, the time spent on the preparation of these documents will 
be reduced).  

It will also mean that the report can consider local community safety matters and activity in 
greater detail which will raise the level of the debate and our understanding of issues and 
ultimately, enable us to better target our resources and efforts.

2.1.5 How will the completion of the Strategic Assessment (a legal obligation) and the production of 
a Community Safety Strategy/Plan be affected if we were to have separate CSPs?
Gravesham’s view is that the impact would be positive rather than negative.  Under current 
arrangements the two Boroughs take it in turns (alternating year-to-year) to produce the 
Strategic Assessment in the format of one document covering both areas.

The Strategic Assessment process is already time-consuming and quite demanding as it 
pools data and intelligence from all our partner agencies to assess changes in levels of crime 
and ASB as the first steps in determining our local priorities.  Our job is made twice as difficult 
as we have to include and analyse all data/information in respect of Dartford and Gravesham.  
Consequently, the Assessment can become lengthy and lose local focus - which defeats its 
purpose as a key analytical tool.  A totally local product would enable us to spend more time 
drilling down on the causal factors behind increases in or the prevalence of certain crime 
types.  It would also mean that the CSP meeting that considers the findings of the 
Assessment would be able to consider different issues in more depth and be able to better 
accommodate the engagement of different partner agency representatives in that discussion. 

The Community Safety Strategy/Plan – this is currently a joint delivery plan.  In establishing a 
dedicated District-level CSP, Gravesham will then develop a new, locally-focussed Strategy 

Page 27



4

and supporting Action Plan.  This will more clearly reflect local priorities and will make 
reporting back on progress in delivering certain initiatives at quarterly CSP meetings more 
meaningful.  

2.1.6 Would having separate CSPs place a greater burden on statutory partners in terms of 
attending meetings?
Any additional burden would be minimal as the meetings only take place quarterly – and in 
the past the joint CSP had a CSP Support Group as well as the main group and agency 
representatives covering both areas were attending both of those without difficulty.  It also 
should be noted that all other Districts have their own CSPs and partner representatives 
covering more than one area are having to accommodate those; we would not be 
requesting any more support than is routinely provided elsewhere. 

Given the increased use of on-line meetings during Covid-19, it is also possible that quarterly 
meetings would have options to ‘dial-in’ rather than attend in person to lessen the demand on 
time that physical attendance might place on attendees. 

Ultimately, by making the meetings more focussed and relevant to every agency represented 
at the table, the benefits should counter any additional requirement placed on the time of the 
few agency representatives affected by having to attend separate CSP meetings in Dartford 
and Gravesham.  

Both Districts have always had separate Crime and Disorder Scrutiny Committees despite 
having a joint Partnership, therefore, the establishing of a separate Gravesham CSP will not 
have any impact on partners who regularly attend Scrutiny meetings.

2.1.7 Would having separate CSPs have a negative financial impact?
No.  Each Borough has a separate Community Safety Fund allocation made available through 
the PCC’s Office and this would not change.  Business cases (bids) for how we would like to 
spend this funding are made by our CSUs independently of each other and historically, how 
this funding has been expended has been very different – reflecting our different community 
safety priorities and approaches.  

Having separate CSPs would not prevent us from continuing to agree to jointly fund specific 
initiatives that would benefit both our areas e.g. sharing the cost of delivering training 
sessions for staff and partner agencies.

Externally funded projects developed by Gravesham CSU (via the Home Office or MHCLG 
and for which Gravesham has been the responsible/lead Authority) to deliver initiatives 
benefitting both our areas, have now been completed; we have no other shared financial 
resources.

2.1.8 Are there joint CSP Sub-Groups/Working Groups that would be affected if there were 
separate CSPs? 
No.  There are no Sub-Groups of the CSP that cover both our areas (there were in the past 
but as local priorities have changed some groups have been wound down and new groups 
have been established but these operate at District level very successfully) e.g. Serious 
Organised Crime Groups, Vulnerability Panels.

North Kent Domestic Abuse Forum is not a sub-group of the CSP and existed prior to the 
formation of the joint CSP.  Representatives from both our CSUs already both attend the 
Forum’s meetings and would continue to do so in the event of the merged CSP arrangements 
coming to an end.  The Forum does not report directly to the CSP and therefore, there would 
be no impact on reporting procedures.

Page 28



5

3. Consultation and Responses Received

3.1 All statutory partner representatives were contacted and briefed on the proposed de-merger 
in late August/early September.  A letter was then sent to each of the following from the Chief 
Executive and the Leader on 17 September 2020 setting out the proposal, requesting a 
response confirming whether they were supportive of the move:

Kent Police – Supt. Neil Loudon, North Kent and Swale
Kent Fire and Rescue Service – Phillip Rice, Group Manager, West Kent
NHS Kent and Medway CCG – Mike Gilbert, Executive Director, Corporate Affairs
Kent County Council – Barbara Cooper, Corporate Director, Growth, Environment and 
Transport (who consulted with Mike Hill, Cabinet Member and Shafick Peerbux, Head of 
Community Safety)
Kent Surrey and Sussex CRC – Stephen Peel, Senior Probation Officer
Dartford Borough Council – Councillor Jeremy Kite, Leader

  3.2 Responses were received from each of the above indicating considerable majority support for 
the de-merger, with some having been very positive about the proposal. Dartford Borough 
Council made clear that they would have preferred the Partnership to remain a joint one but 
agreed to respect Gravesham’s wish to have an independent CSP and therefore, conceded to 
a de-merger.  Dartford colleagues have agreed to work with us to ensure that we now achieve 
this in an orderly way.  

3.3 The only potential issue flagged by Kent Police was that the move would increase the number 
of meetings that the Area Commander would be invited to attend and that it may mean that 
the CSU Inspector would need to cover some meetings instead.  We confirmed that we would 
be happy with this arrangement as we feel certain that the representation of Kent Police by 
the local CSU Inspector, who will have the operational and detailed knowledge of the issues 
within our area, will be very helpful.  We have been mindful of not placing additional burdens 
on partners’ time and have indicated that we will also look at making the remote joining of 
meetings an option to make attendance easier.  Quarterly meetings would hopefully not be 
overly onerous and quarterly meetings are, in fact, the norm in other Districts.

3.4 It seems that putting forward a de-merger has also come at a fortuitously advantageous time: 
KFRS, NHS Health/CCG and KSS CRC/Probation are all currently in the process of 
completing the restructuring of their own services and are looking at making participation in 
CSPs a responsibility for potentially more operational representatives as they feel this would 
be more helpful. 

 
3.2 Changes implemented through the Police and Social Responsibility Act 2011 passed the 

authority for approving the merger (and by implication de-merger) of CSPs from the Home 
Office to Police and Crime Commissioners.  An application was submitted on 13 October 
2020 to obtain the formal approval for the de-merger from the Kent PCC, Matthew Scott. A 
response was received from the Commissioner on 14 October 2020 confirming his support 
and approval.  Consequently, the meeting of the CSP held on 15 October 2020 was able to 
confirm that this was the last joint meeting that would be held, that the joint Partnership has 
now effectively been dissolved and that each Borough will progress with each establishing of 
their own dedicated CSPs.  

3.3 In the light of Gravesham’s withdrawal, there is no advantage to completing a joint Strategic 
Assessment of crime and disorder this year.  Therefore, it was recommended to and agreed 
by the CSP meeting on 15 October that individual Assessments would be completed for each 
Borough.  This will also help begin the process of having a firm focus on local priorities and 
putting in place programmes of work to fully address those priorities at Borough level.  

3.4 A delegated decision has been taken by the Cabinet Lead Member, Councillor Shane 
Mochrie-Cox, countersigned by the Leader of the Council, for the withdrawal of Gravesham 

Page 29



6

from the joint CSP (signed on 15 October 2020) in order that a dedicated District-level 
Partnership can now be established.  The Statement of Independent Cabinet Member’s 
Decision has been published and a report has also been provided to the Cabinet meeting held 
on 9 November in order that Members could be fully apprised of the changes taking place.

4. Anticipated timetable moving forward

4.1 A draft timetable is provided below of key work to be concluded over the next few months 
following the withdrawal from the joint Partnership to establish a Gravesham CSP:
Activity Timeframe
Amendment to the Council’s Register of Partnerships to reflect the 
new CSP Nov 2020
Completion of annual Strategic Assessment (audit of crime and 
disorder) Nov-Dec 2020
First meeting of the new Gravesham CSP which will consider/agree:

 New draft Terms of Reference, organisational structures, 
reporting processes, title and logo for the CSP;

 Findings of the Strategic Assessment and proposed priorities 
for a new Community Safety Strategy;

 The format of the public consultation exercise to be followed 
on identifying community safety priorities.

14 Jan 2021

Report to Crime and Disorder Scrutiny Committee on the de-merger 
and new CSP. 21 Jan 2021
Completion of the public consultation process on community safety 
priorities, and assessment of findings (which will need to be fed into 
the new Strategy).

Late Jan-Feb 2021

Preparation of a draft Community Safety Strategy (public facing) and 
underpinning Action Plan (internal working document) Feb-Mar 2021
Approval of the draft Community Safety Strategy and Action Plan Mid-late Mar 2021
Formal launch of the new CSP and Strategy April 2021

 
5. Conclusion

5.1 Community safety, crime and ASB are a key priority for local people and matters that are high 
on the public agenda.  Establishing a new CSP dedicated to the Borough should invoke 
increased confidence amongst local people that the Council takes these matters very 
seriously and that a strong multi-agency relationship exists that is working proactively and 
collaboratively to reduce crime and disorder.  The creation of a new CSP will provide an 
opportunity to give the Partnership a stronger profile than has previously been possible as a 
primary vehicle for tackling these issues at a local level.

Page 30



7

APPENDIX 1
IMPLICATIONS                                                                                                             
Legal The Crime and Disorder Act 1998 places a statutory duty on ‘responsible 

authorities’ to work in partnership to reduce crime and disorder. Community 
Safety Partnerships (CSPs) are made up of representatives from the following 
responsible authorities: police; local authorities; fire and rescue authorities, 
probation/community rehabilitation services; health authorities (clinical 
commissioning groups).
The de-merger of the joint Partnership has been formally approved by the Kent 
Police and Crime Commissioner (under powers vested in him through the Police 
Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011).

Finance and 
Value for Money

The move to an independent Gravesham CSP rather than a joint Dartford and 
Gravesham CSP does not carry any financial implications.  Funds used to support 
community safety activity are through the Council’s internal budget (which will not 
be affected) and through funding secured by the Community Safety Unit through 
external bidding processes.  A locally-focussed CSP will be cost-effective as 
officer time will be dedicated to local issues rather than on occasion having to take 
account of community safety matters across both Dartford and Gravesham.

Risk assessment Failure to have an effective Partnership in place would be damaging to the 
Council’s reputation and be a failure of the duty created by the Crime and 
Disorder Act 1998.
A data protection impact assessment (OPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process.

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve 
the processing of personal data or special category data or criminal 
offence data? No.

b. If yes to question a., have you completed and attached a DPIA including 
Data Protection Officer advice? N/a

Data Protection 
Impact 
Assessment

c. If no to question b., please seek advice from your nominated DPIA 
assessor or the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk

Equality Impact 
Assessment

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups 
in the community?  No.

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make 
a positive contribution to promoting equality? Yes – it will increase our 
ability to focus on areas and communities that experience crime and ASB 
disproportionately.

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as 
noted in the table above

Corporate 
Business Plan

The establishing of a District-level CSP makes a direct contribution to improving 
public safety linked to People and Place in the Council’s Corporate Plan.

Crime and 
Disorder

The Gravesham CSP will be a key driver of the Council’s programme of work to 
improve community safety and reduce crime and ASB.

Climate Change None.
Digital/website 
website 
implications

Once established, the Community Safety pages on the Council web-site will need 
to be updated.  The public consultation process in developing the new Community 
Safety Strategy will need to be an online survey and the final Strategy should be 
published on the Council’s website.

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

The safeguarding of vulnerable young people and adults is a high priority for the 
Council and partner agencies and this will be reflected in the new Community 
Safety Strategy.

Page 31



This page is intentionally left blank



Classification: Public
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to:  Community & Leisure Cabinet Committee
 

Date: 12 November 2020

Reporting officer: Committee & Scrutiny Assistant

Subject: Evaluation of The Gravesham Youth Democracy Scheme 
2020  

Purpose and summary of report: 
To provide the Committee with an evaluation of the Local Councillor Shadowing Award 2020. 

Recommendations:
The Committee is asked to: 
 

1. Consider the effectiveness of the Gravesham Youth Democracy Scheme 2020 in its 
current form 

2. Suggest any improvements to be made to the Gravesham Youth Democracy Scheme 
for future years  

3. Note the contents of the report 

1. Background

1.1 A report was submitted to Community & Leisure Cabinet Committee in September 
2019 proposing that the Council should start a Local Councillor Shadowing Award 
under the banner of the Gravesham Youth Democracy Scheme. 

1.2 The British Youth Council (BYC) scheme was devised to increase the Councils 
involvement with young adults with an interest in democracy from within the 
Borough.  At the successful completion of the scheme it provided an accreditation 
for participants to use for their CVs/UCAS applications. 

1.3 It allowed participants to gain knowledge surrounding the processes in Local 
Government and gave them an opportunity to engage with Officers and 
Councillors in a way that was previously unavailable to them. 

1.4 The scheme gave Councillors the chance to work with young adults from a range 
of backgrounds and learn more about their views and explore how the Council 
and Government policies affected them. 

Page 33 Agenda Item 8



2

2. Advertisement of the Award

2.1 In consultation with the Senior Youth Work Manager from the Gr@nd, a poster 
advertising the Award was circulated to a number of local schools and colleges. 
The Senior Youth Work Manager also offered to attend a number of school 
assemblies and give a short presentation to the students on the scheme and 
answer any questions they may have had. The poster can be found at Appendix 
Two.  

2.2 The Award was advertised specifically to the below schools and colleges within 
Gravesham in order to give all secondary school students aged between 16-18 
the chance to participate: 

- Gravesend Grammar School 

- Mayfield Grammar School 

- Meopham Secondary School 

- Northfleet School for Girls 

- Northfleet Technology College  

- St John’s Secondary School 

- St George’s Secondary School 

- Thamesview Secondary School 

- North Kent College  

2.3 The scheme was also advertised through the Council’s website and social media 
accounts.  The Senior Youth Work Manager attended a Head Teachers meeting 
in September 2019 to further promote the scheme. 

3. Participants in the Award 

3.1 After several months of advertisement, a total of eleven applications were 
received from five different schools. Originally the intention was to choose two 
students from each of the secondary schools on a first come first served basis in 
order to maintain fairness. However, since there was a lower amount of interest 
than anticipated all applications were accepted including from two students who 
went to school outside of the Borough but had connections to Gravesham through 
residency/family/Youth Council.  

3.2 The Schools that we received applications from were as follows: 

- Gravesend Grammar School    – 5 applications 

- Mayfield Grammar School        – 3 applications 

- Northfleet School for Girls        – 1 application 

- Rochester Grammar School     – 1 application 

- Newstead Wood School           – 1 application    

Page 34



3

3.3 Unfortunately before the first meeting on the Programme of Events, two applicants 
had to withdraw from the scheme.  

3.4 In total nine participants took part in and completed the Local Councillor 
Shadowing Award 2020. A full list of the nine participants can be found at 
Appendix Three. 

4. Councillor Involvement 

4.1 It was crucial that Members were involved in the programme and that the 
participants understood their role and were given the opportunity to meet and 
question them.

4.2 All Members were contacted informing them of the Award and detailing how they 
could be involved; twelve members responded and confirmed their interest. A full 
breakdown of the twelve Councillors that took part can be found at Appendix 
Three.  

5. Programme of Events 

5.1 The scheme ran between January – March 2020 and included a full programme of 
events and experiences such as a workshop afternoon, a talk with the Mayor, a 
visit to the Houses of Parliament and a number of committee meetings. The full 
schedule is attached at Appendix Four. During the Programme, a number of 
additional sessions were added to the schedule at the request of Councillors and 
with agreement of participants; they have been highlighted in green.   

5.2 Participants achieved their accreditation by providing evidence of their 
involvement in the schedule of events for a total of 10 hours. As part of the BYC 
Scheme, all evidence was compiled in their own individual logbook. 

5.3 In the logbook participants detailed their experiences, what activities they 
completed, how long they lasted for and what they learnt from them. The logbook 
also had other general questions which the participants provided answers for such 
as Council information and questions about themselves. 

5.4 Upon completion, the logbooks were submitted to the British Youth Council for 
moderation and in turn submitted to the examination board – ASDAN. 

5.5 The logbooks were received back, fully moderated, on 10 June 2020.  All of the 
participants were successful in achieving their accreditation. Due to the lockdown 
measures in place, the BYC were unable to print off their certificates so PDF 
copies were emailed to Committee Section. 

5.6 It was agreed with the Service Manager (Communities) that Repro would print the 
certificate off and send them out so that each participant received a hard copy of 
their certificate. The certificates were sent out on 12 June 2020 along with their 
moderated logbooks.  

5.7 The BYC managed to print off the official certificates during August 2020 and each 
one was sent off to the participants of the scheme. 

Page 35



4

6. Tour of the Houses of Parliament 

6.1 Originally an official Education Tour was booked called the Story of Parliament 
Tour however as only nine young people sign up to the Scheme it did not meet 
the minimum threshold of seventeen. 

6.2 Instead, Adam Holloway’s PA was contacted and a request was submitted for a 
‘Democratic Access Tour’. She booked the group consisting of eight participants 
and three Councillors on a tour with an official tour guide on Monday, 09 March 
2020 at 10:10am. 

6.3 The tour lasted for seventy five minutes and explained the inner workings of 
Parliament, highlighting important history and both the House of Commons and 
the House of Lords were visited.  

6.4 Each of the eight schools head teachers were contacted prior to the trip and their 
written consent was attained for the Council to take the young people out of 
school on Monday, 9 March 2020. 

6.5 The tour went exceedingly well and all the young people and Councillors in 
attendance spoke highly of the well informed guide and the content of the tour 
itself.   

6.6 Upon conclusion of the tour, Cllr Meade and his colleagues allowed the group into 
the staff/MP lunch area to buy food from the canteen. 

6.7 Photos were taken of the group together with the Councillors in the Hall of 
Westminster; they have been shared with the Communications Manager. 

7. Councillor and Participant Feedback 

7.1 The young people that undertook the Scheme were all very appreciative of the 
opportunity to take part in and learn more about Local Government democracy. 
The events were well attended and Councillors also reported receiving comments 
of praise from the young people. 

7.2 Aside from the Tour of the Houses of Parliament, some of the most positive 
feedback received from the group was the opportunity to sit at the meeting of 
Community & Leisure Cabinet Committee with their own nameplate and actively 
contribute to the discussion with their views on the various items. 

7.3 The Councillors were equally appreciative of the opportunity to work with the 
young people and learn more about their concerns and views on issues related to 
Gravesham and Local Government. 

7.4 Feedback forms were emailed to both the Councillors and participants following 
completion of the Scheme.. One feedback form was received back from one of the 
participant which can be can be found at Appendix Five.  

8. Post Programme and Certificates  

8.1 The participants were all encouraged to pursue voluntary work in their local 
community and become further involved in local democracy. As such, the group 
were made aware of the Gravesham Youth Council and all invited to join; upon 
completion of the award applications were received from two members of the 
group who were both accepted onto the Youth Council.  

Page 36



5

8.2 Originally it was planned that the certificates would be awarded to the participants 
at the Annual Council meeting in May 2020 during the awards ceremony. A 
picture with the young people, Councillors and Mayor was to be taken and 
promoted on social media and in the ‘Your Borough’ magazine. 

8.3 Once lockdown measures have been eased and if the scheme is continued  a 
feature will be created that highlights positive points and events from the 2020 
scheme to attract participants. The feature will be issued through social media, the 
website and ‘Your Borough’ in order to reach a larger audience. 

9. Costs 

9.1 The costs incurred were minimal with the expenditure on logbooks submissions, 
travel and food expenses. 

9.2 For the induction evening in January 2020 and the workshop evening, food was 
provided as the sessions were scheduled during the typical dinner period for 
school children. The total Spotlites food bill was £220.00. 

9.3 Due to the tour of the Houses of Parliament being rescheduled to 10:10am, fifteen 
peak train tickets were purchased at a cost of £400.50. 

9.4 As Gravesham Youth Council are members of the British Youth Council the total 
cost of all the logbook submissions was at a reduced cost of £180.  The total cost 
for running the Scheme was £800.50; the full breakdown of costs is below:  

10. Improvements for Future Years 

10.1 Due to Covid-19, Annual Council was held on a much smaller scale and the 
participants were unable to receive their LCSA certificates on stage. In future 
years, it would be beneficial if a LCSA segment was added onto the Community 
Awards potion of the evening which would allow the participant to get on stage, 
receive their certificates and then take a picture with the Mayor. The pictures 
would also be able to be used for further promotional purposes of the Scheme. 

10.2 A more varied events schedule would make the scheme more interesting to 
potential participants; further activities that could potentially be added include a 
heritage tour of the Borough with one of Gravesham’s guides, attendance at a 
Mayoralty event and helping to assist with one of the Councils community events. 

10.3 Due to Covid-19, the scheme will not run again in 2021; depending on the 
situation at the time, the Council will look to resume the Scheme in 2022.    

Expense Total:

Spotlites 
Buffet Food 

Bill

Train 
Tickets

Logbook 
Submission

Cost: £220.00 £400.50 £180.00 £800.50 

Page 37



6

11. BACKGROUND PAPERS

11.1 Anyone wishing to inspect background papers should, in the first place, be 
directed to Committee & Electoral Services who will make the necessary 
arrangements.

Page 38



IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1
     

Legal There are no legal implications. 

Finance and Value 
for Money 

There will be a minimal cost to the Programme which is laid out within the report but 
it will promote youth engagement in the Borough and portray Gravesham Borough 
Council as an inclusive forward thinking organisation.  

Risk Assessment No risks associated with this report. 

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process. 

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data? 
A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information 
Commissioner’s Office website via the above links.

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice?
N/A

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk.
N/A

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.
N/A

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.
Yes - Children of all backgrounds, ethnicity and capability were encouraged to 
volunteer for the Scheme.  

Equality Impact 
Assessment

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Corporate Plan None

Crime and Disorder None

Digital and website 
implications

The Programme would be promoted on the website and social media.   

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

The steps taken to ensure the safety of the children taking part has been covered in 
the report.  

Page 39

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



EARN A

GAIN NEW LEADERSHIP SKILLS

TAKE A TRIP TO PARLIAMENT AND 
LEARN ABOUT NATIONAL POLITICS

SHADOW A LOCAL COUNCILLOR 
AND LEARN HOW LOCAL 

DEMOCRACY WORKS

MAKE A DIFFERENCE IN YOUR 
LOCAL COMMUNITY

Sign-up now to take part between 
January and March 2020.

You must be able to spend 10 hours across 
three months to compete the award. 

Interested? Call 01474 320123 and ask for Jackie 
or email hello@thegrand.org.uk 

National project by the British 
Youth Council in partnership with 
Gravesham Borough Council. 

PERFECT FOR ANY POLITICS 
STUDENTS OR ANYONE 

INTERESTED IN MAKING THEIR 
COMMUNITY BETTER

@GrandGravesend
@GrandGravesend

@OfficialGYG

Page 41



This page is intentionally left blank



List of Councillors and Participants Involved with the Gravesham 
Youth Democracy Scheme 2020 

Councillors 

1. Shane Mochrie-Cox 
2. Lyn Milner 
3. Jenny Wallace 
4. Brian Sangha 
5. Tony Rana 
6. Sarah Gow 
7. Lee Croxton  
8. Diane Marsh 
9. Frank Wardle 
10. Dakota Dibben 
11. Jordan Meade 
12. Harold Craske 

Participants 

1. Husam El-Henawy 
2. Molly Hepburn 
3. Robert Hooker 
4. Kieran Everson 
5. William Smith 
6. Leah Dodds 
7. Grace Etherington 
8. Harriet Olivia Kerry Howes 
9. Rachel Thornton   

  

Gravesend Grammar School: 5

Mayfield Grammar School 3

Meopham Secondary School 

Northfleet School for Girls: 1 

Northfleet Technology College 

St John’s Secondary School 

St George’s Secondary School 

Thamesview Secondary School 

North Kent College (Gravesend)

Rochester Grammar School               1

Newstead Wood School   1

2  

Labour: 7 

Conservative: 4  

Independent: 1 

Page 43



This page is intentionally left blank



SCHEDULE OF EVENTS – The Gravesham Youth Democracy Group - Local Councillor Shadowing 
Award 2020  

Date/Place Event About the Event  Officers/Councillors  
in Attendance  

Estimated 
Hours Spent 

07 January 2020

Council Chamber  

Introduction to the Award – 4pm – 
6pm

Welcome, Arrival, Sign-in and Admin
Introduction to Programme

Speech from the Lead Member (Cllr 
Shane Mochrie-Cox) for Youth 

Development  
Introduction to how the Council 

Operates, Council Functions, Role of 
Central Government and Local Parish 

Councils 

 If you have not already submitted your consent forms, 
via email or post then you must bring your form to this 
session 

 A welcome speech from Cllr Shane-Mochrie-Cox 
 The session will follow the idea of a ‘speed meeting’ 

arrangement. Each participant taking part will be sat 
at a table and you will have three minutes to talk to 
each Councillor before a buzzer sounds and you will 
move onto the next Councillor 

 Some of the Councillors taking part in the Scheme 
may be your Ward Councillors; please do look up 
your Ward using the postcode search on the 
Gravesham website below: 
http://democracy.gravesham.gov.uk/mgFindMember.
aspx

 Buffet style refreshments will be provided  

All Councillors 
Jackie Coupar  

Ben Clarke 
(Committee Officer) 

2 Hours 

08 January 2020 

Council Chamber  

18:30pm – An introduction to 
Regulatory Board 

19:00pm – Regulatory Board

 A 20 minute introduction/briefing on Planning and the 
purpose of the Regulatory Board will be given to the 
participants (To be confirmed) 

 A series of contentious planning applications have 
been submitted to this Committee which will result in 
large public attendance therefore you will be allocated 
seating in the Council Chamber  

Wendy Lane 
(Assistant Director 

Planning) 
Lauren Wallis 

(Committee Officer)

1:30 – 2:00 
Hours 

27 January 2020 16:00pm – 17:30pm – Workshop 

 You will be able to talk to the Councillors about things 
that they have learned during the scheme and ask 
them questions about areas you have acquired All Councillors 

P
age 45

http://democracy.gravesham.gov.uk/mgFindMember.aspx
http://democracy.gravesham.gov.uk/mgFindMember.aspx


Council Chamber  
 

Evening  with Councillors and a visit 
from the Mayor 

interest in. You can also use this time to work with the 
Councillors to fill your logbooks in

 Buffet style refreshments will be provided  

The Mayor (Cllr 
Gurdip Bungar)  

Committee Officer 
1:30 Hours 

03 February 2020

Council Chamber  
 

19:00pm – An introduction to The 
Cabinet 

19:30pm – Cabinet Meeting 

 A 20 minute introduction/briefing on the powers of 
Cabinet and their decision making capability 

 Introduction from Simon Walsh (Service Manager 
Communities) 

Simon Walsh 
(Service Manager 

Communities)
Committee Officer  

1:30 Hours 

04 February 2020 

Council Chamber 

19:30pm – Strategic Environment 
Cabinet Committee 

 Cllr Sangha has invited you all to the Committee to 
discuss your views on the Lower Thames Crossing, 
transport links in the South East and various other 
issues 

Cllr Sangha 
Committee Officer 1:30-2:00 

Hours 

06 February 2020

Council Chamber  

19:00pm – An introduction to the 
Community & Leisure Cabinet 

19:30m – Community & Leisure 
Cabinet Committee 

 A 20 minute introduction/briefing on the purpose of 
the Cabinet Committee and the areas that the 
Committee focuses on 

 Presentation from Simon Hookway/Cllr Mochrie-Cox 
 This is the meeting where all you can have your 

voices heard 
 A large room layout will be used and name plates will 

be created for each participant  
 The Chair (Cllr Mochrie-Cox) will invite all participants 

to contribute their ideas and opinions at the meeting 

Simon Hookway 
(Assistant Director 

Communities) 
Cllr Shane Mochrie-

Cox

1:30 Hours 

13 February 2020

Council Chamber  

19:00pm – An introduction to the 
Overview Scrutiny 

19:30pm – Overview Scrutiny  

 A 20 minute introduction/briefing on the powers of 
Overview Scrutiny and their role within Local 
Government from Cllr Meade.   Cllr Jordan Meade 

Committee Officer  
 

1:30 Hours 

21 January 2020 16:30pm – Scrutiny Review Process  
 A brainstorming session to discuss the Scrutiny 

P
age 46



CS4 
Review Process and ask your views on services or 
areas that you think need reviewing to make them 
more efficient or save money etc 

Cllr Jordan Meade 1:00 Hour 

25 February 2020

Council Chamber  
 

19:00pm – A brief introduction on Full 
Council  

19:30pm – Full Council Meeting 
 

 A brief introduction on Full Council and its role within 
the decision making process 

 There will be a short discussion on the importance of 
the meeting as it will be dealing with the budget 
setting of the Council for the financial year 

 Presentation from Simon Walsh (Service Manager 
Communities) 

Simon Walsh 
Committee Officer 2 Hours 

27 February 2019 Moderation

 The Logbooks are to be completed and handed into 
the Committee Section at the Civic Centre by 4:00pm 
on 27 February 2020 

 All logbooks will then be sent off to the British Youth 
Council for moderation

Monday, 09 March 
2020  

Houses of 
Parliament 

Story of Parliament Tour (90 Minutes) 

11:00am – 12:30pm 

 The tour starts with a 15 minute 360 degree high 
production film taking you through key events in the 
changing history of UK Parliament.

 The group will then explore the Palace of 
Westminster, learning about the work of Parliament 
today. Parliament is a working building and access to 
different parts of the Palace of Westminster, as part 
of the tour, will vary due to Parliamentary business. 

 The tour will give the group the opportunity to reflect 
on what UK Parliament of the future might look like 
and their relationship to that change. 

 Please bring your own packed lunch 

 Further details of where to meet and timings will be 
emailed out when the letters are sent out to your 

4 Councillors 
Ben Clarke 

1:30 Hours 

P
age 47



schools in the New Year 

 https://www.parliament.uk/education/visit-parliament-
with-your-school/introduction-to-parliament/

May 2020 

The Woodville’s 

19:30pm – Annual Council

 During the Awards segment of the evening, the GYD 
Scheme will receive an introduction from the Chief 
Executive and then all the participants will collect their 
certificates on stage with a photo of them and the 
Councillors that took part in the scheme 

 

P
age 48

https://www.parliament.uk/education/visit-parliament-with-your-school/introduction-to-parliament/
https://www.parliament.uk/education/visit-parliament-with-your-school/introduction-to-parliament/


 

 

Cllr Tony Rana 
Whitehill 
Labour 

Cllr Sarah Gow 
Singlewell 
Labour 

Cllr Lee Croxton 
Riverside 
Labour 
Deputy Leader of 
the Labour Group  

Cllr Diane Marsh 
Singlewell 
Conservative 

Cllr Frank Wardle 
Meopham North 
Conservative 

Cllr Dakota Dibben 
Istead Rise 
Conservative 

Cllr Jordan Meade 
Woodlands 
Conservative 
Leader of the 
Conservative Group 

Cllr Harold Craske 
Higham 
Independent 
Leader of the 
Independent Group 

Cllr Brian Sangha 
Pelham
Labour
Cabinet Member for 
Strategic 
Environment 

Cllr Shane Mochrie-
Cox 
Coldharbour 
Labour 
Cabinet Member for 
Community & Leisure 
and Younger Persons’ 
Champion

Cllr Lyn Milner 
Riverside 
Labour 

Cllr Jenny Wallace 
Pelham 
Labour
Cabinet Member for 
Housing Services

Councillors Taking Part in the Gravesham Youth Democracy Scheme
P

age 49

http://democracy.gravesham.gov.uk/mgUserInfo.aspx?UID=4115
http://democracy.gravesham.gov.uk/mgUserInfo.aspx?UID=4115
http://democracy.gravesham.gov.uk/mgUserInfo.aspx?UID=4115
http://democracy.gravesham.gov.uk/mgUserInfo.aspx?UID=4115
http://democracy.gravesham.gov.uk/mgUserInfo.aspx?UID=4115


T
his page is intentionally left blank



Harriet Howes

Gravesham Youth Democracy Scheme: Feedback Form

What did you enjoy most about the Scheme? 

I really enjoyed getting to make contacts within the council, and participate in some committee 
meetings (community and leisure). Furthermore, meeting like-minded people has allowed me to 
make new friends and has inspired me to join the youth council. 

What did you like least about the Scheme? 

The meetings tended to be very late, and for a lot of them I had to leave before meetings ended 
which was a shame as I could have missed some beneficial information. However, I understand that 
there is not much that can be done to fix this. 

What would you like to see added to the Scheme in the future? 

Perhaps the chance to participate in some other meetings, as it would be helpful to gage younger 
opinions on some issues too. 

Did you find the ten hours target easily achievable? 

Most definitely, as there were lots of opportunities to gain the hours and meetings tend to be quite 
long. 

What improvement, if any, would you make to the Scheme?  

- To be able to contribute in more meetings. 
- To be able to get a photocopy of our logbooks afterwards. 

Page 51



This page is intentionally left blank



Classification: Public
Key Decision: Yes

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Communtity & Leisure Cabinet Committee

Date: 12 November 2020

Reporting officer: Director (Communities)

Subject: Christmas Programme 2020

Purpose and summary of report: 
To provide an overview of the Christmas programme planned for Gravesend Town Centre for 
2020 and the winter lights festival in January 2021, given Covid-19 restrictions.

Recommendations:
1. That Members note the contents of the report and comment on the development of 

these programmes.

Please note that this report was finalised prior to the Government's announcement of 
new national restrictions from 5 November 2020.  The Committee will be updated on 
the implications of these to the Christmas programme at the meeting.

1. Introduction

1.1 Planning a programme of events to celebrate the Christmas season has 
been challenging given the restrictions placed upon gatherings of groups 
and a need to ensure that activities are Covid-19 safe.  This has meant 
that many of Gravesend’s traditional Christmas events cannot take place 
this year in a form that they normally would.

1.2 However, there is a determination that a Christmas programme should be 
in place to support businesses that continue to trade in the face of the 
impact of the pandemic and during what is for many the most important 
trading time of the year; and the Borough’s communities who want to be 
able to celebrate Christmas. 

1.3 This report outlines the programme of Christmas events which have been 
planned by a team of Council officers and its partners.  All events have 
been designed to meet Covid-19 safety requirements, notably bookable 
events, appealing to small groups whilst maintaining physical distances.  
The programme will be subject to changes if Covid-19 guidance changes.

Page 53 Agenda Item 9



2

1.4 Many of the events lend themselves to generating images and memories 
which can be shared on social media and the public will be encouraged to 
do that via Instagram accounts. 

1.5 This is an important time for the Town and the wider community to come 
together in a different way this year and to demonstrate its resilience, 
especially during these difficult winter months.  To this end an additional 
winter lights festival has been added to the programme to give the Town a 
lift, lighting it up towards the end of one of the darker months of the year.

2. Christmas Programme 2020

Gravesham Christmas Lights Trail

2.1 The Christmas Lights Lantern Parade, involving hundreds of school 
children in the switching-on of the Christmas lights cannot take place this 
year and is being replaced by a Christmas Lights Trail, organised by 
Cohesion Plus working in partnership with the Council and Kent Equality 
Cohesion Council.

2.2 The trail comprises specially commissioned large light displays installed 
around Community Square, in St Andrew’s Gardens and in Town Pier 
Square, all within walking distance of each other.  The trail will take place 
between 4pm and 8pm on Friday 20 and Saturday 21 November and 
supplements the Christmas lights scheme within the Town and the 
traditional Community Square Christmas tree which will be lit for the 
Christmas festive period.

Christmas in Gravesend Borough Market  

2.3 Christmas Weekend Markets have been planned for every Saturday and 
Sunday from Saturday 28 November until Saturday 19 December.  A 
series of special offers, incentives and decorating own bauble for a 
Christmas Wishes Tree or Christmas post box.

2.4 Late night Christmas crafts with workshops (6.30pm to 8.30pm) as follows:

2.4.1 Friday 27 November: Chocolate making workshop with Coastal 
Cocoa

2.4.2 Friday 4 December: Christmas wreath making with Denys and 
Fielding

2.4.3 Friday 11 December: Christmas pottery painting with Infinity 
Moments

2.4.4 Friday 18 December: Family Christmas quiz with Head Chef 
Matthew Kearsey-Lawson.

2.5 All ticket only for bubbles of a maximum of 6 people. 

2.6 A Christmas Record Fair will be held on Sunday 20 December.

Page 54



3

Drive-in Cinema

2.7 Four bookable festive Christmas films are being shown in a drive-in 
cinema on Friday 4 December and Saturday 5 December at Milton Road, 
Gravesend.

Dickens at St Andrew’s

2.8 Reflecting Charles Dickens’ connections to the founding of St Andrew’s 
Riverside Mission Church, an immersive journey with the world-famous 
author and some of his ‘friends’ will take place between 10am and 3pm on 
Saturday 5, Sunday 6, Saturday 12 and Sunday 13 December.

Nativity on the big screen

2.9 Gravesend’s annual telling of the Nativity story, performed in partnership 
with Gravesham Churches Together, cannot take place live this year 
around the Town, but it will take place on Saturday 12 December on a big 
screen between 11am and 4pm.

2.10 Filming locations have been made possible with the help of Meopham 
Valley Vineyard, Owletts and Cobham village. 

Christmas Choirs

2.11 Local choirs are taking to the screen and have recorded some of their 
festive favourites to be combined in a virtual concert to be enjoyed on 
screens throughout the town and online.

2.12 Choirs taking part include Make a Noise, Centre Stage, Gravesend 
Grammar School and The Gr@nd, and possibly more.  The Patrick 
Mitchell Big Band will also make an appearance.

Santa Selfie Experience

2.13 A visit to Santa’s Selfie Experience at Gravesend Town Pier can be 
booked through a reserved timed slot and via five fabulously festive and 
traditional scenes, each self-contained in its own booth.  Overseen by 
Santa’s elves, they will be working extra hard to keep everyone Covid-19 
safe with hand sanitiser and cleaning thoroughly between visits.  Groups 6 
or under and all proceeds going to the Mayor’s Charity Fund.

2.14 This Experience will be open at specified times, Friday 18 to Sunday 20 
December.

12 Days of Gravesham Christmas Trail

2.15 12 Christmas displays will be placed around the Town Centre creating a 
trail to encourage the public to find all twelve and enter into a draw for 
tickets to The Woodville.  The trail starts Friday 20 November.  Trail maps 
available from the Visit Gravesend visitor information point in Gravesend 
Borough Market.

Page 55



4

Elf-led Creative Workshops

2.16 Virtual Elf training workshops for children of all ages available during 
December.  Dates to be confirmed shortly.

3. Winter Lights Festival

3.1 To light up the Town post Christmas and towards the end of January a 
lights festival is being created for the evenings of Friday 30 and Saturday 
31 January.

3.2 The Council is working with Strange Cargo, 8Point3 LED, and local artists 
to light up historic buildings and create feature lit sculptures around the 
Town Centre.

3.3 This will be complemented by a shop window trail featuring specially 
commissioned illustrations based on local stories, legends and history.

3.4 Attendees are asked to adhere to all COVID19-related guidance and 
legislation that is in place at the time, to observe social distancing at all 
times and restrict groups to no more than six.

4. The Woodville Panto

4.1 A tremendous effort has been made to ensure that a Christmas panto can 
take place in Gravesend this year.  The Woodville and Wicked Productions 
will be staging Rapunzel with a seating plan to safely accommodate 
audiences.  

4.2 Much creative thought has been given to planning, writing, production of a 
pantomime where the cast will socially distance and they will perform to a 
smaller, socially distanced audience.  Covid-19 safe guidance will apply to 
all involved, including backstage and crew to ensure that this year’s 
production is as fun as ever.

4.3 The show runs from Friday 11 December to Sunday 3 January.

5. Communications

5.1 The Christmas programme is being publicised in the Winter edition of Your 
Borough, via www.visitgravesend.co.uk, 
www.gravesendboroughmarket.co.uk and through the Council’s social 
media channels.  Press releases are also being issued to local media.

5.2 Many of the events will be bookable via www.woodville.co.uk. 

6. BACKGROUND PAPERS

Anyone wishing to inspect background papers should, in the first place, be directed to 
Committee & Electoral Services who will make the necessary arrangements.

Page 56

http://www.visitgravesend.co.uk/
http://www.gravesendboroughmarket.co.uk/
http://www.woodville.co.uk/


IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1
     

Legal No direct implications.

Finance and Value 
for Money 

The Christmas programme is budgeted from G109/79873 Christmas Events.
The winter lights festival is funded from a commitment made earlier in the year at 
Council to decorate the Town Centre.

Risk Assessment Risk assessments are prepared for each event and will include a health and safety 
risk assessment to meet Covid-19 requirements.  These will adjusted if Covid-19 
requirements/guidance changes.

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process. 

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data? 
A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information 
Commissioner’s Office website via the above links.

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice?
     

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk.
     

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.
No

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.
Yes, the Christmas programme is designed to appeal to all sections of the 
Gravesham community.

Equality Impact 
Assessment

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Corporate Plan #2 Place

Climate Change No direct implications.

Crime and Disorder No direct implications.

Digital and website 
implications

The Christmas programme are being promoted via the digital and website channels 
available to the Council.

Page 57

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


6

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

     

Page 58



Classification: Public
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Community & Leisure Committee

Date: 12 November 2020

Reporting officer: Simon Hookway - Assistant Director (Communities)

Subject: Corporate Performance Update: Quarter Two 2020-21 

Purpose and summary of report: 
To present Members of the Community & Leisure Committee with an update against the 
Performance Management Framework, as introduced within the council’s Corporate Plan, for 
Quarter Two 2020-21 (July to September 2020).

Recommendations:
1. This report is for information purposes only.

1. Introduction

1.1 In October 2019 the council formally adopted its new Corporate Plan for 2019-23. 
The plan sets out the council’s ambition for the borough, complete with a suite of 
corporate objectives and supporting policy commitments that will shape the 
council’s activities over the four year period.  

1.2 In order to evaluate if the council is effectively achieving against its stated policy 
commitments, and is ultimately delivering consistently high quality services, the 
council need to have a sound performance management process in place. 
Developed by senior council officers and Cabinet portfolio holders, the council’s 
Corporate Plan presents a Performance Management Framework (PMF) that 
forms the basis of reporting corporate performance to council Members and 
residents. 

Page 59 Agenda Item 10



2

2. Performance management: process

2.1 The effective management of the council relies upon good quality and timely 
performance information on which to base informed executive decisions. 

2.2 Appendix Two to this report provides Members of the Community & Leisure 
Committee with a statistical overview of the council’s performance against the 
Corporate Plan for Quarter Two 2020-21, covering the period July to September 
2020. 

2.3 Information on performance over the period is presented separately in tabular and 
graphical form for all indicators. Where any data is not presented, this will relate 
either to those indicators reported on an annual basis or, alternatively, where data 
has not been submitted in time for the presentation of the report. Any outturns 
where data has been unable to be reported will be presented within the next 
available reporting cycle.  

3. BACKGROUND PAPERS

 Gravesham Borough Council: Corporate Plan 2019-23. 

 Gravesham Borough Council: Performance Management Framework 
2019-23. 

Anyone wishing to inspect background papers should, in the first place, be directed to 
Committee & Electoral Services who will make the necessary arrangements.

Page 60



IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1
     

Legal The council’s Corporate Plan is an integral part of the authority’s policy framework 
as defined by the Constitution. The new Plan will ensure the council has in place an 
effective framework to deliver its responsibilities and ensure better results for 
vulnerable local residents, with the assistance of relevant partner agencies. 

Finance and Value 
for Money 

There are no significant costs associated with the monitoring of the council’s 
Corporate Plan from which council activities should be based and which therefore 
should be accounted for as part of on-going financial planning processes.

Risk Assessment Implementation of a performance management framework allows the council to 
evidence how successful it is in achieving against its stated objectives and provides 
residents accountability in how successfully it is administering its resources.

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process. 

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data? 
A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information 
Commissioner’s Office website via the above links.

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice?
     

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk.
     

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.
N/A

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.
N/A

Equality Impact 
Assessment

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Corporate Plan The council’s adopted Corporate Plan sets the strategic ambition and objectives for 
the authority over the 2019-23 period. This report provides Cabinet with a quarterly 
assessment of how the council is delivering against its objectives through its 
performance management framework.

Climate Change Climate change as a strategic theme underpins the projects, initatives and work 
involved in the delivery of the council's Corporate Plan. As a core policy 
commitment of the council, efforts in this area are represented within corporate 
objective #1: People.

Crime and Disorder Community safety is an integral theme of the Corporate Plan and work by the 
council in this area, alongside its key partners, will go towards delivering corporate 
objective #1: People.

Page 61

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


4

Digital and website 
implications

In terms of the council's performance management framework, digital implications 
are represented and assessed through the outturns relating to  'PI 51: online self-
help forms'.

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

The council's work in safeguarding children and vulnerable adults helps contribute 
towards delivering corporate objectives #1: People and #2: Place.

Page 62



Gravesham Borough Council - Corporate Plan 2019-23 00Delivering a Gravesham to be proud of

C O M M U N I T Y  &  L E I S U R E
P O R T F O L I O

Performance   report 
Q  2  :  2  0  2  0  -  2  1

Delivering a Gravesham to be proud of

P
age 63



P I  1 Total number of reported crime offences

Q1

2019 - 20

Q2

2019 - 20

Q3

2019 - 20

Q4

2019 - 20

Q1

2020 - 21

Q2

2020 - 21

Q3

2020 - 21

Q4

2020 - 21

3,143 3,225 3,211 3,245 2,670 3,056

P I  2 Total number of reported incidents of Anti-Social Behaviour 

Q1

2019 - 20

Q2

2019 - 20

Q3

2019 - 20

Q4

2019 - 20

Q1

2020 - 21

Q2

2020 - 21

Q3

2020 - 21

Q4

2020 - 21

636 774 556 685 1,295 1,098

#1 PEOPLE P O L I C Y   C O M M I T M E N T 

1. Create stronger neighbourhoods: work with Kent Police on the prevention, detection and reduction 

of crime and anti-social behaviour, and the safeguarding of local residents.

O U T T U R N 

O U T T U R N 

In Q1, the impact of Covid-19 was manifested in a significant increase in reports of ASB to Kent Police 

(the vast majority of the increase relating to breaches of restrictions) and a reduction in most crime 

categories due to lockdown (people staying/working at home making burglary and vehicle-related thefts 

more difficult, shop closures resulting in a fall in shoplifting offences etc.).  In Q2, total crime is still 

showing a reduction compared to the same period last year but with the end of lockdown and the easing 

of restrictions over the summer, levels have started to increase again.  ASB remains high but has 

reduced compared to Q1; the still inflated figure is primarily linked to Covid-19 restriction breaches. N.B. 

Kent Police has confirmed that from April 2020 to end of October 2020 approximately 20% of ASB calls 

related to COVID-19. As such, ASB numbers should deducted by a fifth during this period when seeking 

to compare to the pre-Covid status of 2019-20.  

Key work completed in Q2 includes:

• Eight key town centre CCTV cameras have now been upgraded to HD Digital;

• The CSU has been working closely with Housing Services, Kent Police and Porchlight (homelessness 

charity) to address modern slavery and human trafficking.  This has resulted in the Council’s first 

Modern Day Slavery Strategy 2020-23.  The draft Strategy was presented to the Community and Leisure 

Committee and the final version is being launched in October to coincide with National Anti-Slavery Day.  

A multi-agency Modern Slavery Working Group will be established to oversee the delivery of the 

Strategy;

• Parking Services have now moved into the Community Safety Unit service area and an Environmental 

Enforcement Manager came into post in September who will line-manage the Unit’s Safer Place 

Officers.  A key priority over the forthcoming months will be to begin taking firm action against any 

identified parties engaging in fly-tipping, concentrating activity in the geographical areas across the 

Borough where this is most prevalent.  Two ASB Housing Officers have also returned to the Community 

Safety Unit with a broadened remit, now being able to investigate/advise in respect of ASB affecting the 

private sector as well as dealing with ASB involving Council-owned properties;

• The CSU’s Operational Manager has been working with KCC colleagues in developing a multi-agency 

Youth Engagement Panel.  This will consider individual cases of young people who are either at risk of 

or are already engaging in crime and/or ASB and the Panel will coordinate tailored packages of 

intervention to be delivered to the individuals concerned.

a proud community; where residents can call a safe, clean and 

attractive borough their home.

2,000

2,500

3,000

3,500

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

0

500

1,000

1,500

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

P
age 64



P I  13 Total number of environmental enforcement actions taken

Q1

2019 - 20

Q2

2019 - 20

Q3

2019 - 20

Q4

2019 - 20

Q1

2020 - 21

Q2

2020 - 21

Q3

2020 - 21

Q4

2020 - 21

17 16 28 19 0 13

a proud community; where residents can call a safe, clean and 

attractive borough their home.

#1 PEOPLE P O L I C Y   C O M M I T M E N T 

2. Actively enforce environmental standards: use available powers to pursue anyone committing

environmental crime or damaging the local environment.

O U T T U R N 

Five Safer Place Officers were reduced to 4 in April 2020 decreasing to 3 from the end of July.   During 

the period July to September one Officer was on long term sickness from June to October.   Two other 

Officers have been covering the roles over the last quarter and due to some COVID related issues both 

have had time off and also taken some Annual Leave. 

Collectively the team has overseen 13 enforcement activities during Q2, with expectations formal 

enforcement activity will likely increase into the coming quarter.

Q2 also saw the appointment of the council's new Environmental Enforcement Manager who began in 

September, and is making changes to enforcement so that fly-tipping is now dealt with as part of this 

area of work. Training and changes to Job Descriptions are under way for the team and following this 

work there will be a recruitment drive for two further Officers to expand activity.

0

10

20

30

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

P
age 65



P I  37

Q1

2019 - 20

Q2

2019 - 20

Q3

2019 - 20

Q4

2019 - 20

Q1

2020 - 21

Q2

2020 - 21

Q3

2020 - 21

Q4

2020 - 21

219,508 207,957 194,043 204,620 N/A 41,278

P I  38 Total number of ‘Active Gravesham’ attendees

Q1

2019 - 20

Q2

2019 - 20

Q3

2019 - 20

Q4

2019 - 20

Q1

2020 - 21

Q2

2020 - 21

Q3

2020 - 21

Q4

2020 - 21

7,318

a dynamic borough; defined by a vibrant and productive local economy taking 

advantage of growth in the area, supported by its strong and active community.

#2 PLACE 

O U T T U R N 

Total number of leisure centre attendees

O U T T U R N 

Annual indicator Annual indicator

P O L I C Y   C O M M I T M E N T 

1. Design a quality and affordable leisure offer: improved facilities and creative sports programmes 

to tackle local health inequalities.

Leisure Centres: Total attendance for the July to September 2020 period = 41,278. This includes 16,779 

in the gyms and 13,533 in the pool at Cygnet. Noting the leisure centres re-opened on 25 July (gym, 

classes, sports halls and squash only) and then the pool at Cygnet only from 7 September, comparing 

2019 attendance with these dates, the total attendance was 140,208, therefore equating to 

approximately a 100,000 reduction in visitors. The pool programme allows for adult lane swimming, 

hydropower sessions, parent and baby sessions, family sessions, swimming lessons and Gravesend 

and Northfleet Swimming Club. Since re-opening the gyms at both sites, the average number of gym 

visitors is 51% of what it was in 2019. This level of performance is not surprising when taking in to 

account the new restrictions to comply with social distancing hence much reduced maximum numbers 

allowed and the continued nervousness of some of the local community wishing to return to the leisure 

centres. The swimming lesson numbers at Cygnet are circa 1,300 compared to this time last year of 

1,254 but this does include users who were originally based at Cascades, so as to maximise numbers. It 

should be noted that pool roof repair works continue at Cascades Leisure Centre during this time of 

lockdown. GCLL is not expected to re-open any other activity areas at this time and a further review of 

the programme will be taken in February/March 2021.

Active Gravesham activity: As a result of the coronavirus pandemic the usual Summer Fun programme 

delivered by the council was cancelled, but the following activities were delivered in August and 

delivered in partnership with the North West Kent Countryside Partnership; Geocaching- This is a 

popular worldwide modern version of treasure hunting. Using satellites, ‘treasure’ is hidden across the 

borough and its co-ordinates recorded. Participants download a free app on to their mobile device and 

go out to track the treasure box.  Once the box has been found you can exchange a trinket and write in 

the log book. It’s a good activity for families to participate in and there are 10 treasures boxes hidden 

across Gravesham for the public to find. Nature Trails – The free nature themed activity trails took place 

at Camer Park on 8 August and at the on 21 August.  Aimed at families, participants follow the fun clues 

to different locations around the site. At each location there were animals and plants to spot and 

questions to answer on them or the habitat. Attendance at Camer Park was 42 and the Riverside 

Leisure Area was 68.  A Culverstone event was planned for the 25 August but was unfortunately 

cancelled due to stormy weather.   

20,000

100,000

180,000

260,000

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q2
2020 - 21

2,500

5,000

7,500

10,000

Q4
2019 - 20

P
age 66



P I  40

Q1

2019 - 20

Q2

2019 - 20

Q3

2019 - 20

Q4

2019 - 20

Q1

2020 - 21

Q2

2020 - 21

Q3

2020 - 21

Q4

2020 - 21

974 595 1,011 515 353 417

Total number of people achieving a target outcome from the Gr@nd healthy living 

services

#2 PLACE 

O U T T U R N 

a dynamic borough; defined by a vibrant and productive local economy taking 

advantage of growth in the area, supported by its strong and active community.

P O L I C Y   C O M M I T M E N T 

2. Manage a programme of proactive healthy living interventions: work with partners to help support 

and safeguard vulnerable residents. 

Although the Gr@nd building is not open for general drop in, nearly all sessions are being delivered and 

many are taking place in person with Covid-19 risk assessments in place. This includes Basic English 

Classes, tech advice, job club and GYG workshops.

We have delivered weekly health walks throughout Q2. One participant said 'The Keep Fit group now 

meeting for a walk on a Friday has been very good for older people to meet up and has been a lifeline 

for our mental and physical health during the pandemic.' 

Kent Sport Inequalities sessions are being delivered in Rosherville Rec, Kings Farm playing field, the 

Gurdwara and at the Gr@nd. Numbers are limited to keep within Covid-19 guidance, but attendance has 

been really positive and BBC South East reported on the sessions at the Gurdwara.

Working in partnership with KCC and the Kuflink Foundation we are working on Christmas in a box 

project to provide young carers and their families a selection of food and treats for the festive season.

The GYG Committee is working with head teachers and schools exploring racism and how it is reported. 

As part of a KAMCOP (Kent and Medway Collaborative Outreach Programme) we are delivering digital 

coding workshops online. This has been really well received and 16 young people are participating.

300

600

900

1,200

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

P
age 67



P I  41

Q1

2019 - 20

Q2

2019 - 20

Q3

2019 - 20

Q4

2019 - 20

Q1

2020 - 21

Q2

2020 - 21

Q3

2020 - 21

Q4

2020 - 21

36

P O L I C Y   C O M M I T M E N T 

3. Develop a cohesive and resilient community: implement a leading programme of engagement 

initiatives, showcasing the borough’s diversity and enabling greater participation in civic life.

Total number of community activities/events delivered by the council and in conjunction 

with its partners

O U T T U R N 

#2 PLACE 

Annual indicator Annual indicator

a dynamic borough; defined by a vibrant and productive local economy taking 

advantage of growth in the area, supported by its strong and active community.

With the relaxing of some of the restrictions around gatherings, we have adapted scheduled community 

events to adhere to Covid-19 restrictions with information being shared via social media. Flags were 

raised on community square to commemorate Roma Holocaust Memorial Day and the 75th VJ 

Anniversary.  Gravesham Pride joined forces with Medway Pride to deliver a week long programme of 

discussion and on-line entertainment in August to raise awareness and celebrate Pride. Judging for the 

Gravesham Community Awards and Pandemic Heroes took place, with socially distanced presentations 

to the winners being held in the Woodville.  Community litter picking has restarted with residents 

showing their support for the Keep Britain Tidy Great September Clean with17 organised litter picks 

across the borough between July and September. 

A draft Community Engagement Strategy has been prepared and work is ongoing to develop the 

council’s support for local community organisations with an initial virtual network meeting held in 

September. 

0

20

40

60

Q4
2019 - 20

P
age 68



P I  42

Q1

2019 - 20

Q2

2019 - 20

Q3

2019 - 20

Q4

2019 - 20

Q1

2020 - 21

Q2

2020 - 21

Q3

2020 - 21

Q4

2020 - 21

10,658 12,358 21,127 6,968 0 2,413

P I  43

Q1

2019 - 20

Q2

2019 - 20

Q3

2019 - 20

Q4

2019 - 20

Q1

2020 - 21

Q2

2020 - 21

Q3

2020 - 21

Q4

2020 - 21

6,419 6,801 6,857 7,461 980 6,192

O U T T U R N 

a dynamic borough; defined by a vibrant and productive local economy taking 

advantage of growth in the area, supported by its strong and active community.

The Woodville has been offering a scaled down programme since July consisting mainly of cinema 

screenings and a relatively small portfolio of titles on offer. Most of the large studios have now pushed 

back their major launches until 2021. Despite the lack of new titles the cinema has been popular with 

patrons and they have remarked favourably on how secure they feel in the venue and how comfortable 

they feel with the measures we have put in place. Live screenings have been more popular and Spotlites 

is now offering a lunch and/or afternoon tea option for visitors attending those events – this is also 

proving popular.

When more restrictions were lifted later in July the Woodville ran two outdoor comedy nights in Fort 

Gardens. Both were sold out and were very well received by those who attended. The acts were very 

strong and on both occasions the headliners made very favourable references to Gravesend and the 

Woodville for putting on the events.

Plans are now in place to offer a socially distanced pantomime in December 2020 and sales for this are 

going well.

Covid-19 restrictions have had an impact on the ability of the market to continue with its programme of 

community events, although specialist markets have been re-started and plans are progressing for 

Christmas activities which will comply with Covid-19 requirements.

 


#2 PLACE P O L I C Y   C O M M I T M E N T 

Average weekly Borough Market footfall

O U T T U R N 

4. Enhance the borough’s cultural offer: maximise the usage of The Woodville and the Borough 

Market as community assets.

Total number of patron tickets sold by The Woodville

0

10,000

20,000

30,000

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

0

3,000

6,000

9,000

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

P
age 69



P I  44

Q1

2019 - 20

Q2

2019 - 20

Q3

2019 - 20

Q4

2019 - 20

Q1

2020 - 21

Q2

2020 - 21

Q3

2020 - 21

Q4

2020 - 21

4,936

 

Annual indicator Annual indicator

Total number of visitors attending Gravesham heritage sites

#2 PLACE 

O U T T U R N 

Heritage - Due to the Covid-19 restrictions, the heritage sites have remained closed and will re-open 

pending future restrictions in April 2021. 

The sites have continued to be checked weekly by a volunteer from Thames Defence Heritage.

Arts - In September we held an open day at St Andrew's Arts Centre to celebrate the work of five artists 

who were awarded the Make it Arts Grants back in April. The day went very well with over 70 visitors all 

following social distancing rules. The day also joined up with the national Heritage Open Days and Talk 

like a Pirate Day with entertainment on board LV21.

Virtual Blake - The virtual Blake gallery has continued every month, with around 15 - 20 entries per 

month. The December exhibition will feature a range of our favourite images from across all 

submissions. 

P O L I C Y   C O M M I T M E N T 

5. Promote Gravesham’s arts and heritage: support local groups in their community reach and 

expand the visitor economy.

a dynamic borough; defined by a vibrant and productive local economy taking 

advantage of growth in the area, supported by its strong and active community.

0

5,000

10,000

15,000

Q4
2019 - 20

P
age 70


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	6 Draft Community & Engagement Strategy
	7 Gravesham Community Safety Partnership
	8 Youth Democracy Scheme
	Appendix Two - Councillor_Shadowing_Award_Poster
	Appendix Three
	Appendix Four- Gravesham Youth Democracy Scheme 2020 - Schedule of Event...
	Appendix Five- Gravesham Youth Democracy Scheme- Feedback Form Harriet H...

	9 Christmas Programme of Events
	10 Corporate Performance Report: Q2  2020-21
	2. Community & Leisure Portfolio - Q2 2020-21 - Appendix 2




